MENDEL UNIVERSITY IN BRNO

Faculty of Regional Development and International Territorial Studies

Diploma Thesis

TRENDS IN ECONOMIC GROWTH AND INEQUALITY IN SOUTHERN AFRICA: A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS AMONG THE LOW INCOME COUNTRIES

Author: Abel Joaquim Zico, Hon.

Academic Supervisor: Ing. Radka Redlichová, PhD

Brno 2016

Dedication

I dedicate this thesis to my father Mr Joaquim Zico and my mother Mrs Cecilia Cherene, to my children Osvaldo, Marcelo and Alicia, to my brothers and sisters, especially to my sister Filomena Cherene Zico (in memory)

Abstract

This study investigates and compares the trends of economic growth and income inequalities in five low income countries members of Southern Africa Development Community (SADC) for the period of 1990 to 2013. It also analyses the relationship between growth and inequalities in the studied countries. It is a quantitative and qualitative study and was used the descriptive, analytical, statistical and comparative methods. The descriptive analysis indicates that the entire five economies grew in different performances and they are not absolutely convergent, but is a relative convergence among some countries. However, the inequality level trend to decrease in these countries but in very small levels. The results using econometric models and Ordinary Last Square (OLS) estimator show that the factors affecting economic growth and inequalities are not all the same and do not react in the same way for all countries. It also found out that the relationship between growth and inequality is not mutual in all countries. Therefore, growth trend to reduce inequality in Mozambique, Tanzania and Zambia, but trend to increase in Zimbabwe.

Keywords: Economic growth; Income inequality; Low income; Regional Development

Abstrakt

Práce zkoumá a porovnává trendy vývoje ekonomického růstu a důchodových nerovností v pěti nízkopříjmových zemích v rámci Jihoafrického rozvojového společenství (SADC) za období 1990 až 2013. Porovnání též vztah mezi růstem a nerovnostmi v daných zemích. Jedná se o kvantitativní a kvalitativní studii s využitím popisných, analytických, statistických a komparativních metod. Na základě popisné části je možné říci, že zkoumané země se vyvíjely různě rychle a nejedná se tedy o absolutní konvergenci. Mezi některými zeměmi je však možné mluvit o relativní konvergenci. Úroveň nerovností mezi zeměmi se pomalým tempem snižuje. Výsledy modelu založeném na metodě nejmenších čtverců ukazují, že faktory ovlivňující ekonomický růst a nerovnosti nejsou stejné a nemají ve všech zemí stejný vliv. Také se ukázalo, že vztah mezi růstem a nerovnostmi není ve všech zemích vzájemný. Redukce nerovností se projevuje v Mosambiku, Tanzanii a Zambii, avšak v případě Zimbabwe roste.

Klíčová slova: ekonomický růst; příjmové nerovnosti; nízký příjem; regionální rozvoj

Acknowledgement

I would like to extend my profound gratitude to all who have contributed to the success of this thesis.

First and foremost, I thank the Almighty God for providing me with knowledge and strength to pursue this graduate degree.

Second, I thank the CARIBU project from European Union for the scholarship provided which gives me the possibility to study the Master Degree and the Mendel University in Brno to accept my application to study in this faculty.

I wish to express my deepest appreciation to my Supervisor, Dr. Radka Redlichová for her support, direction and encouragement throughout the preparation and writing of this thesis.

Special thanks to Dr. Natăsa Pomazalová who started working with me in this challenge. I am highly indebted and thankful to her for her constructive criticism and the enormous time she dedicated to the success of this thesis and my entire graduate degree.

I am grateful for the overwhelming love and constant encouragement of my parents, my father Mr. Joaquim Zico and my mother Mrs. Cecilia Cherene, and my entire family. I couldn't have done this without your support.

Thank you all.

Declaration

I declare that in carried out this thesis independently and only with the cited sources, literature and professional sources. I agree that my work will be published in accordance with the section b of Act. No. 111/1998 Coll. on High Education and amended thereafter and in accordance with the guidelines on publishing university students thesis.

I understand that my work related to the rights and obligations under the Act No. 121/2000 Coll., the Copyright Act, as amended, in particular that the fact that Mendel University in Brno has the right to conclude a licence agreement on the use of this work as a school work pursuant to Section 60 paragraph 1 of the Copyright Act.

Before closing a licence agreement on the use of my thesis with another person (subject) I undertake to request for a written statement of the university that the licence agreement in question is not in conflict with the legitimate interests of the university and undertake to pay any contribution, if eligible, to the costs associated with the creation of the thesis, up to their actual amount.

In Brno, 20.5.2016

Signature

Table of contents

Dedication	i
Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
Declaration	v
CHAPTER ONE - INTRODUCTION	1
1.1.Thesis background	1
1.2.General characterization of SADC region	3
CHAPTER TWO - AIM OF THE THESIS	9
2.1.Goal and Aim	9
2.2.Reseach objectives	9
2.3.Justification and contribution	9
2.4.Research questions	11
2.5.Hypotheses	11
CHAPTER THREE - LITERATURE REVIEW	12
3.1.Economic growth: definition and characterization	12
3.2.Economic growth theories	13
3.2.1.Theories of convergent and divergent growth	13
3.2.2.Theories of endogenous and exogenous growth	17
3.3.Defining Income inequality	18
3.4.Relationship between economic growth and income inequality	19
3.5.Factors of growth and inequality	21
CHAPTER FOUR - METHODOLOGY	24
4.1.Methods and Techniques	24
4.2.Models specification	26
4.3.Data analysis methods	28
4.4.Results and Discussion methods	28
CHAPTER FIVE – ANALYSES OF TRENDS IN ECONOMIC GROWTH AND	
INEQUALITIES	30
CHAPTER SIX – RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	48

6.1.Estimations and Econometric results	48
6.2.Discussions	59
6.2.1.Trends in economic growth and income inequalities	59
6.2.2.Factors affecting growth and	60
inequalities	
CHAPTER SEVEN – CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	64
7.1.Conclusions	64
7.2.Recommendations	65
REFERENCES	67
APPENDICES	74
Appendix 1- Map of SADC region	74
Appendix 2- Descriptive statistics	75
Appendix 3- Diagnostic tests for econometric models	77

List of tables

1.1.Countries sectors contribution to GDP in 203	7
4.1.Distribution of real GDP among countries (1990-2013)	30
4.2.GDP growth rates among countries	32
4.3.Distribution of GDP per capita (1990-2013)	35
4.4.Distribution of unemployment rates (1991-2013)	38
4.5a.Inflation rates among countries (1990-2013) – part 1	39
4.5b.Inflation rates among countries (1990-2013) – part 2	40
4.6.Distribution of total population and population growth rates	42
4.7.Countries HDI	45
5.1a.Results of economic growth model for Malawi	48
5.1b.Results of Inequality model for Malawi	49
5.2a. Results of economic growth model for Mozambique	50
5.2b.Results of Inequality model for Mozambique	51
5.3a. Results of economic growth model for Tanzania	52
5.3b.Results of Inequality model for Tanzania	53
5.4a.Results of economic growth model Zambia	54
5.4b.Results of Inequality model for Zambia	55
5.5a.Results of economic growth model for Zimbabwe	56
5.5b.Results of Inequality model for Zimbabwe	57

List of figures

1.1.Countries GDP shearing in SADC in 2013	6
1.2.Sectrors contribution to regional GDP	6
4.1.Trends in Real GDP among countries (1990-2013)	31
4.2. Trends in GDP growth rates among countries (1990-2013)	33
4.3.Trends in GDP per capita (1990-2013)	36
4.4.Trends in unemployment rates (1991-2013)	37
4.5. Trends in inflation rates among countries (1990-2013)	41
4.6. Trends population growth rates among countries (1990-2013)	43
4.7.Trends in Inequality index levels (1990-2013)	46

List of abbreviations

- FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations
- IMF -- International Monetary Fund
- SADC Southern Africa Development Community
- SSA Sub-Saharan Africa
- UN United Nations
- UNCTAD United Nation Conference on Trade and Development
- UNDP United Nations Development Program

WB - World Bank

CHAPTER ONE - INTRODUCTION

1.1. General background

The world is composed by economies of all shapes and sizes. There are wealthy countries, very poor and those who are between the two extremes. These differences are not only among countries, also within a country there are rich and poor regions and those that can be considered in average development. This situation is verified because some economies grow faster while others grow slowly generating disparities.

Trends in income and wealth tell a clear story about the inequalities. The gap between the rich and poor has reached new extremes and is still growing, while power increasingly lies in the hands of elites. Worldwide, inequality of individual wealth is even more extreme. At the start of 2014, the richest 85 people on the planet owned as much as the poorest half of humanity. Today's extremes of economic inequality undermine growth and progress, and fail to invest in the potential of hundreds of millions of people (Oxfam, 2014).

Addressing about inequalities among regions, Perroux (1977) cited by Oliveira (2009), stressed that economic growth starts concentrated in some parts of the territory and then spread throughout the whole economy. In this sense when the development starts in a certain region it causes a series of attractive forces to all types of economic activities in other regions, causing regional differences within a country. Therefore, the effects of growth on the country's regions have a homogeneous character therefore depend essentially on inter-regional economic relations. Within these relationships, typically of competitive nature, some regions trend to become stagnant giving advantages to other expanding regions, while others grow however because of the complementary nature of their economy.

Studies about economic inequalities started because of injustice that the greater or lesser concentration of wealth in the hands of some people or regions creates to the aggregate. Therefore, these disparities cause in the last time a great discrepancy on the living conditions and well-being of the inhabitants of a given region creating consequently situations of social conflicts. Among many causes underlying the obvious disparities, the following ones are usually noted: historical knowledge, ethnicity and regionalism aspects, geographic position and

possibilities for capitalizing on spill-over effects, resources allocation, high level of corruption, war damages and the absence of political will, accountability and cooperativeness to minimize this problem, lack of coherent regional development policy on national level.

The African countries are not living apart of this serious problem of inequalities which is ravaging the fair and balanced growth of the world and is particularly more harmful in developing countries. Studies appoint that the sub-Saharan Africa is the most unequal region and also the weakest economy among all developing regions (Agyemang, 2014). In another hand, the Southern Africa is appointed to be one of the most unequal sub-region of all Sub-Saharan regions. However, Studies about growth and inequalities in the SADC region are scarce and sometimes contradictory. For example, Nhate and Simler (2002) measured inequalities in Mozambique using data from IAF (Household Survey of 1996 and 1997) they found that all capitals of Mozambicans provinces have an index of inequality in consumption above 46 percent between high and low income consumers, showing how it is statistically significant. In contrast, the study of James et al. (2005), whose results were presented in the *Second Action Plan for the Reduction of Absolute Poverty* (PARPA II), stresses that the evolution of economic inequality in the period 1996 to 2002 increased slightly, from 40 percent to 42 percent, and suggests that this growth of just 2% in about six consecutive years is statistically insignificant (Ali, 2009).

The goal of this thesis is to investigate the factors affecting economic growth and income inequalities in southern Africa. It also analyses the relationship between growth and inequality in the selected countries. It is a comparative study among the member countries of Southern Africa Development Community (SADC). The study is focused on low-income countries, defined according to the World Bank classification¹. Thus, the countries of the region that are part of this sub-group are Democratic Republic of Congo (DR Congo), Lesotho, Mozambique, Malawi,

¹ As of 1 July 2015, low-income economies are defined as those with a GNI per capita, calculated using the *World Bank Atlas method*, of \$1,045 or less in 2014; middle-income economies are those with a GNI per capita of more than \$1,045 but less than \$12,736; high-income economies are those with a GNI per capita of \$12,736 or more. Lower-middle-income and upper-middle-income economies are separated at a GNI per capita of \$4,125 (WB, 2015).

Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe. Therefore, the study excludes DR Congo and Lesotho for the reasons of sampling criteria which are explained in the methodology (chapter 4).

This document is structured in seven chapters. The chapter one is the introduction which gives the background of the thesis, the general characterization on SADC regional bloc. The chapter two is the aim of the thesis and are presented the goal, objectives, the justification, including motivation and possible contributions of the findings, the research questions and the hypothesis. The chapter three gives the theoretical overview, discussed the main topics related with growth and inequalities using different approaches and authors. In the chapter four is presented the methodology of research and describes the main phases, steps, methods and techniques used in the research, including the definition of variables and the models development. The chapter five is concentrated in the data trend analysis. The chapter six present the research results based on the econometric models and discussions of the final findings. The last chapter seven is reserved for the conclusions and recommendations. The references and appendices are the final aspects of the thesis.

1.2. General characterization of SADC Region

This section gives the general characterization of SADC region. It contextualizes the economic bloc in the aspects of ambit and objectives of creation, the composition and economy.

Context

SADC comprises 15 states² located in Southern Africa (see the map in appendix 1) and seeks to promote peace, security, and economic integration in the region. It has its origins in the organization of Frontline States (Angola, Botswana, Mozambique, Tanzania, and Zambia), which sought the political liberation of the region from colonialism and minority white rule in the mid- to late 1970s. The group expanded in 1980 when Lesotho, Malawi, Swaziland, and

² Angola, Botswana, the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Seychelles, South Africa, Swaziland, Tanzania, Zambia, and Zimbabwe.

newly independent Zimbabwe joined to form the Southern African Development Coordination Conference (SADCC), with the aim of reducing economic dependence on apartheid South Africa and promoting their own economic development through cooperation and integration. Namibia joined to the SADCC in 1990 and in 1992 with the Windhoek Agreement SADCC became SADC (Burgess, 2009; Shoeman, 2014).

The total population of the region in 2014 was about of 287 million inhabitants (roughly one third of Africa) and majority youthful with an unusually low life expectancy rate. The most populated country is the Democratic Republic of Congo with about 67 millions people, followed by United Republic of Tanzania with about 41 million people. The less populated country is Seychelles with 0.1 million people (Kahn and Menéndez, 2014).

The regional bloc is not composed by countries with same regional/spatial characteristics. Five SADC countries are coastal (Angola, DR Congo, Mozambique, Namibia and South Africa), other five and landlocked (Malawi, Zambia, Zimbabwe, Lesotho and Botswana, three are islands (Seychelles, Mauritius and Madagascar) and two are small kingdoms (Lesotho and Swaziland) (See the map 1 in the annex). This aspect that characterizes the regional countries influences all other aspects of the countries, such as population, economic activities and performance, environmental conditions and in the final the forms of cooperation between them, either bilaterally and multilaterally.

• Economy

The SADC countries have great economic potential, based on both the potential for domestic production and regional and international trade. They also differ significantly in terms of their size. The range is comprised of countries such as Malawi, which figures among the poorest states of the world, to countries such as Mauritius, a stable and prospering middle income country, including the very high growth economies of Angola, Botswana, Mozambique and Tanzania. South Africa is the leading SADC economy, and though its exports are mainly primary products, its domestic economy is highly diversified, with services comprising 66% of GDP. The combined SADC Gross Domestic Product is in the order of USD 600 billion, and is strongly based on commodities, with the agriculture sector contributing some 17% to GDP. Mining also

plays a dominant role in economies of the region even though there have been decades-long attempts by many countries to diversify their economies through import substitution industrialization. Thus, mineralization is extensive across SADC countries (GIZ and SAIIA, n.d.; SADC, 2014).

For SADC as a whole, from 2003-2013, economies grew by an average of 4.7% annually, prompted by different reasons in different countries. Therefore, while 4.7% annual growth over the last decade seems impressive when compared to the European Union's average of about 2% per year, it lags behind other developing regions such as ASEAN³ which grew at 7.4% per year over the same period. This clearly shows the potential for increased growth in SADC. On average, gross domestic product (GDP) per capita increased by 3% per year in SADC over the last decade. Thus, the differences between individual countries, however, are huge. While a country such as Angola enjoyed more than 7% GDP growth per capita annually over the last decade, the per capita income of a country such as Zimbabwe decreased by 2.8% annually over the same period. Looking to the individual countries participations in the regional GDP South Africa is the unchallenged economic heavy weight of the region. Its share of the region's total GDP stands at 55.5%. Angola comes in second with a share of 13.6%. On the other hand, Lesotho and Seychelles have shares of regional GDP adding to 0.4% and 0.2% respectively (GIZ and SAIIA, n.d.). (See the figure below with detailed GDP share by each country in the bloc).

The reasons for these differences vary. They include diverse factor endowments, different geographical land sizes, connections to international trading routes (some are landlocked, others not) and population sizes vary greatly. The differences in the (enabling) business environment and the corresponding government policies similarly play a significant role. The World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Index ranks seven SADC states as factor driven economies: Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mozambique, Tanzania, Zambia, Zimbabwe; two as between factor and efficiency: Angola and Botswana; four as efficiency driven: South Africa, Swaziland, Namibia and Mauritius, with tiny Seychelles as efficiency/innovation driven.

³ Association of Southeast Asian Nations

Democratic Republic of Congo is not classified (GIZ and SAIIA, n.d; Kahn and Menéndez, 2014).



Figure 1.1: Countries GDP shearing in SADC in 2013(%)

Source: author (2016); data from GIZ (n.d.)

• Sectors contribution to regional GDP



Figure 1.2: sectors contribution to regional GDP

Source: author (2016); Data from GIZ and SAIIA (n.d.)

The figure 1.2 gives a spectrum a global sector contribution for all SADC region. The indications is that in the SADC region the services sector is the main driver of regional growth contributing with 54% of regional GDP, what represents more than half of the total. In the second position comes the industry sector with about 31% and in the final the Agriculture contributes about 15% of value added to GDP. What determines this situation is that the relative importance of different sectors varies quite significantly by country.

Country / Sector	Agriculture	Industry	Service
Angola	10.83	56.98	32.18
Botswana	2.54	36.91	60.55
DRC	25.16	35.09	39.75
Lesotho	7.83	36.57	55.60
Madagascar	29.11	16.00	54.89
Malawi	26.96	18.79	54.25
Mauritius	3.27	23.07	73.66
Mozambique	29.25	23.66	47.09
Namibia	7.07	29.64	63.29
Seychelles	2.09	15.42	82.49
South Africa	2.39	27.58	70.03
Swaziland	7.48	47.69	44.83
Tanzania	27.00	25.18	47.82
Zambia	17.68	37.25	45.07
Zimbabwe	12.38	31.29	56.33

Table 1.1: countries Sectors' contribution to GDP 2013(%)

Source: author (2016); data from GIZ (n.d)

The table 1.1 above gives a detailed contribution of each production sector by country. With a simple analysis of the table 1.1 is possible to denote that the service is the main economic sector for all country and with major contribution on GDP of each country, excepting Angola and Swaziland dominated by industry (56.98% and 47.69%, respectively). Seychelles is the country

with highest share in service sector to GDP in the region with 82.49% followed by Mauritius with 73.66%. These two countries derive this level of contribution in the service sector mostly due their tourism sector. The agriculture sector is dominated by Madagascar with 29.11% in their economy.

Two significant obstacles affect the development of SADC region: low status of health and education in the region. Unemployment, poverty and inequality are also strong features of all SADC member states, with Namibia and Zambia demonstrating among the highest recorded Gini coefficients. GDP per capita varies from below \$1000 (Congo) to \$20000 (Seychelles), with a SADC average of around \$2000 per capita (Kahn and Menéndez, 2014).

CHAPTER TWO – AIM OF THE THESIS

2.1. Goal and Aim

✓ The goal of the work is to investigate the trends of regional economic disparities among five chosen low income countries in Southern Africa members of SADC regional bloc over the period of 1990 to 2013. The aim is to explain and compare the crucial factors involving economic growth and income inequalities and propose singular and cooperative recommendations to avoid negative ones and support the positive ones.

2.2. Research objectives

- ✓ To describe the trends of factors of growth and inequalities of each studied country in the period of 1990 to 2013.
- ✓ To analyse the effects of the variables on economic growth and inequalities in the studied countries using regression models with time series data from 1998 to 2013.
- ✓ To compare the factors affecting growth and inequalities between the five chosen countries and to understand the differences and similarities of their effects.
- ✓ To understand the relations between economic growth and income inequalities in the SADC countries.

2.3. Justification and contribution

The studies of economic growth and income disparities are directly related and are very important because it is almost associated with the development of the regions/countries and the improvement of the living conditions of the population. According to the related literature is also very important to understand which factors affects the development process, the well-being construction and consequently the social justice, aspects which are very influenced by the existing disparities.

The persistence of high inequality scenario between regions and consequently among people causes weakness in the productive capacity of the country. Therefore, unaware of the extent of

these disparities creates a very worst scenario, weakening all possible political, economic and social actions to achieve the well-being because the allocation of resources and the targeting of investments will not be consistent with the real priorities. In the other hand the economic performance of regions or countries influences the type and conditions of cooperation with others, determining the main sectors to cooperate and the bargaining power.

The motivation for choosing this topic is related to the importance of understanding the factors that influences the performance of economic growth of the studied countries and its connection with the income distribution. It is also very important to known whether these two factors converge or diverge and how the verified situation affects the level of equality, quality of life of individuals, welfare state and social equity and justice. On the other hand, the studied countries are all seen as low-income countries, according to the international development classifications, they have similar economic characteristics, they face common challenges and they share similar stories of development as states. These countries are simultaneously members of the same regional developing organization, the Southern Africa Development Community (SADC) and cooperate multilaterally and bilaterally apart of shearing geographical and territorial borders. Therefore, it's also important to know and compare the factors of convergence and divergence in their development processes and how they may affect their cooperation, both positively and negatively.

This study is supposed to contribute to reduce the scarcity of scientific studies on materials on economic growth and income inequality in the studies countries, particularly for Mozambique where the exploratory bibliographic research shows that the scientific scarcity in these areas is higher than other countries. On the other hand, is expected that the results of this study contribute to the governments of the mentioned states understand better some priority areas that need more attention and intervention to address a more consistent development, more proportional distribution and egalitarian income between individuals and regions, which may help turn the reduction of injustices and social conflicts. Finally, this comparative study between neighbouring countries, generally with same characteristics, which cooperate from long time ago and that are part of the same regional economic and political bloc, can help each state government to

understand better some strong and weak points of their development and how them can influence strategically the cooperation with others.

2.4. Research Questions

To understand the trend of factors of growth and inequalities in the studied countries and also the relationship between growth and inequalities were defined three main research questions which are stated below:

- 1. What are the trends of economic growth and inequality in the chosen Southern Africa countries during the study period?
- 2. Which determinant factors affect growth and inequality in these countries? Are the factors the same for all countries?
- 3. Is there a mutual relationship between economic growth and inequality in these countries?

2.5. Hypotheses

Below are stated the null and alternative hypotheses of this thesis. They give the possible answers about the trends in economic growth and inequality in Malawi, Mozambique, Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe, the chosen Southern Africa countries, according to the defined research questions.

H0: The economies of all five studied countries grew positively over the study period and trend to convergence.

H1: the economies of the five studied countries trend to decrease over the study period, taking all of them to divergence.

CHAPTER THREE - LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter dives the theoretical framework of economic growth and Income inequalities. All the topics discussed here, according to different authors, academics and approaches, are strictly connected to the study.

3.1. Economic Growth: Definition and characterization

The concept of economic growth was much debated and still being debated by the academics to understand better its attributions. The debate is quite rich in academia, particularly in relation with its distinction with economic development.

Many academics consider economic growth as the constant increases in the level of real income and it is just a basic condition to reach development (Sunkell and Peace, 1988 in Vasconcellos and Garcia, 1998). Sandroni (1994) considers economic growth as positive increases in the product, which when accompanied by the level of improvement in the quality of life of individuals and structural changes in the economy results in economic development. For him, both growth and economic development depend on the characteristics of each country or region, that is, depends on your past history, the geographical position and extent of the demographic, cultural and natural resources they possess.

Development should result from economic growth complemented by improvement in the quality of life (Vasconcellos and Garcia 1998). In this way of thinking, the authors consider that economic growth should include changes in the product composition and allocation of resources by the different sectors of the economy in order to improve the indicators of economic and social well-being, such as the level of poverty, unemployment, inequality, health, food, education and housing.

Milone (1998) argues that to better characterize the economic development must be observed the existence of positive changes of economic growth over time, measured by some indicators, such as, real income, *per capita* income, real GDP and *per capita* GDP, reduction on the levels poverty, unemployment and inequality and improvements on the levels of health accessibility, nutrition, education, housing and transportation. Fernandes and Coelho (2002) consider that economic growth is only a quantitative measure of the increase in GDP *per capita*, being

understood as relative measure, as the statistical dimension of economic changes, but without revealing how is the growth distributed within the countries, regions and individuals.

Some academics consider the existence of two economic schools discussing on the topic of economic growth. The first looks to economic growth as the synonym of development, while the second mention that growth is essential for development, but not sufficient condition. Therefore, the development should be seen as a complex process of change and transformation in the economic, political, human and social aspects. This thinking mean that economic growth creates development by transforming the positive growth on product to meet the diverse human needs such as health, education, housing, transportation, food, leisure, among others (Sousa, 1993). However, the positive economic growth which allows the achievement of development must be in continuous high rate and must be higher than the rate of growth of the population, and in the same time should originate structural changes and improvements in the indicators of quality of life of the individuals. Therefore economic growth is the key to the solution of human problems and development.

3.2. Economic Growth Theories

This study is connected with two groups of theories of economic growth. The first one integrates the theories of convergent and divergent growth. It explains the reasons of the directions or trends of the economies. The second group is composed by the theories of endogenous and exogenous growth. These two theories are related with the origin of the factors that affects the growth of the economies. Down each of the mentioned theories are detailed discussed.

3.2.1. Theories of convergent and divergent growth

The theories do convergent and divergent growth discussed below tries to demonstrate how the economy of a particular place, region or country behaves or may behave over time. They are very important to understand if the economy is growing positively or not.

• Theory of convergent growth

The theory of economic growth gives three hypotheses of convergence. The first is the absolute convergence hypothesis. According to this hypothesis, regardless of their initial conditions,

countries will eventually converge to each other in terms of per capita income. It means that if this hypothesis is borne out in the real world, then income disparity is temporary. The second hypothesis is the conditional convergence. For this hypothesis, regardless of their initial conditions, countries will eventually converge to each other only if they have similar structural features such as technologies, saving rates, population growth rates. The third and last proposed hypothesis is the club convergence. This hypothesis states that depending on their initial conditions, countries might diverge from each other in the long run even if they have similar structural features. If the hypothesis of either conditional or club convergence holds in the real world, then income disparity might be permanent. However, economic policies should be targeted toward structural features in the former and initial conditions in the latter (Razak, 2006; Mathur, n.d).

The convergent vision defended by Williamson (1965) and followed by Richardson (1970) and many other academics is an optimistic theory about the economic growth process. Williamson defends the idea that the market itself promotes regional convergence pointing out that if the propellers effects overcomes the regressive effects this situation can eventually eliminate regional income inequalities. The reverse polarization model developed by Richardson is considered one of the most optimistic convergence model in which economic growth after a certain stage of development promotes "natural" way an economic devolution process. This thesis shared also by Williamson suggests that development starts concentrated in some regions until to reach a maximum point from which begins with deconcentration process reducing inequalities.

Reinforcing the discussion on the convergence growth approach, Nelson and Phelps (1966) built a model in which adopt technological progress as the most important variable. For these authors the technological progress grows in proportional rate of the growth delay of the poor countries for rich countries. Therefore they assume that the higher is the technological gap in the poor regions the higher is the rate of technological change in these regions (Santos, 2001).

In the same way of discussions presented above, other academics points out that the process of industrialization due to the technological advance is the "engine" of economic growth, determined by the establishment of high-scale industries and flexible production structure. In this

view according to Santos for poor countries/regions to achieve the same level of competitiveness of the rich countries/regions they need to stimulate industrialization through economic openness, production subsidies and tax benefits. Santos also stresses that according to the theory of convergent growth occur the reduction of disparities when the economy reaches a steady state point where occur absolute convergence of per capita incomes. If confirmed this hypothesis economies would be in development process, less inequality, more social welfare and less social injustice (Kindlenberger, 1965; Kaldor, 1977; Romer, 1994 and Lucas, 1998 all cited by Santos 2001). However, despite this expectation of convergence among the nations, which has been observed in many empirical studies is that there is little evidence about the hypothesis of convergence of per capita GDP, when taking a large number of countries in the world. Even when it is observed, the convergence occurs within specific groups of countries and the convergence rates are very low, taking the convergence process to be relatively slow (Silva Filho and Carvalho, 2001).

• Theory of divergent growth

Apart of convergent growth theory there is the divergent theory. Myrdal (1963) and Hirschman (1975) are the first authors advocating the divergent vision were observed the effects of the economic dynamics using the circular notion of causation and vicious cycle of poverty developed by Nurske (1957) to explain a circular motion of cumulative factors with negative impact on other factors which is concomitantly the cause and effect of regressive or propellants movements. The regressive movements (*backwash effects*) according to Myrdal arise from trade relations and unfavourable terms of trade among the richest regions, export of goods with high added value, and the poorest regions, producers of basic inputs (raw materials, agricultural products and food) from primary sector with low added value. The propellants movements (*spread effects*) come from expanding regions, for example dynamic industrial centres, and induce economic growth creating positive threads on exports and the production of inputs and commodities in which the underdeveloped regions have greater comparative advantages (Ibiden).

Between the two movements described above, which behave in opposite directions, there is a *stagnation process* that occurs when the effect caused by the regressive motions are greater than the propulsive movements, thus establishing an unfavourable relationship and a process of

cumulative resource transfer from poor regions to wealthy regions. Therefore, in the view of Myrdal (1963), economic growth does not converge to equilibrium, due to the circular causation. For the author, the games of the market forces usually tend to increase inequalities between regions rather than reduce. He advises the state's political interference to perform its allocative and redistributive function of resources, under the risk of masse growing of some regions and keeping the other poor.

In parallel to the position of Myrdal, Hirschman (1977) exposes that economic growth produces inequalities between regions. According to the author, the expansion of a region causes both favourable and unfavourable effects on the growth of other regions. The favourable effects, called creep effects (trickling-down), increase purchases and investments in the poorest regions, particularly if the economies have a relationship of complementary. It helps to absorb a part of unemployment, increases the labour productivity and the level per capita consumption of these regions. In another side the adverse effects, also called regressive, (*polarization effects*), puts the companies of poor regions competing in the same market with companies of developed regions, as well as they loses their technicians, managers and more skilled entrepreneurs towards the developed region. For Hirschman, if the market forces promote the durability of regressive effects than the fluency effects will be necessary the state interventions to implement economic policies and public investment to correct the situation, acting consequently to neutralize the regressive effects. Therefore, the author gives attention to the fact that public investment does not confine only to basic social capital, such as water, energy, transport, housing, etc. To generate economic growth is necessary to have good infrastructure, to encourage the installation of productive unities in the interior of poor regions because when the private sector is incipient, the development process may not achieve the desired results (Idem Ibiden).

According to the explanations above can be noted that both Myrdal and Hirschman share the idea that the process of economic development tends to create disparities between regions and consequently between people. They also call to the intervention of the government to correct this trend using allocative and redistributive policies, as well as public investment.

3.2.2. Theories of endogenous and exogenous growth

The exogenous and endogenous theories are related with the origin of the resources or factors that influences the growth of the economy. Therefore, the endogenous factors are more controllable, because they are internal of the economy or the region, and the exogenous factors are less controllable because they are external. Thus, to know about these theories is essential for this study to understand if the variables used to explain the trend of growth and inequality in the SADC countries are internal or external factors. Down each theory is described with some more details.

• Theory of endogenous growth

This theory is mainly based on the approaches of Roomer (1986) and Lucas (1988). The endogenous growth theory or, more simply, the new growth theory provides a theoretical framework for analysing endogenous growth, persistent Gross National Income (GNI) growth that is determined by the system governing the production process rather than by forces outside that system. In contrast to traditional neoclassical theory, these models hold GNI growth to be a natural consequence of long-run equilibrium (Todaro and Smith, 2014).

In the new economic growth theory models, growth is seen as a product of endogenous economic forces to decentralized market systems. Are these forces that drive the process more than any exogenous technological innovations on which the market have no control. In this way, the economy can achieve the perpetual balanced growth through its internal forces. Therefore, to achieve this kind of growth is necessary to eliminate the diminishing trend of returns of capital. In this way, to the new theory of increasing returns ensure support the long-term economic growth (Arraes and Teles, 2000; Silva Filho and Carvalho, 2001;).

For the supporters of this theory, factors such as endogenous technological innovation (which arise as a result of the productive agents efforts to maximize their profits), human capital (the stock of knowledge of economic agents) and institutional arrangements (including government policy and there civil society organization) plays a crucial role in the continued growth of per capita income in any economic system (Silva Filho and Carvalho, 2001).

• Theory of exogenous growth

The traditional neoclassic models emphasize the accumulation of capital as the driving force of economic growth. Based on the work of Solow (1956) and Swan (1956), they use a production function that seeks to satisfy the condition of flexible proportions in the use of factors, thus ensuring that private savings equals the *ex post* investment, eliminating the Keynesian unemployment and consequently ensuring the inevitable and fundamental balance stability. Thus, the traditional neoclassical model concludes that the marginal propensity to save only determines the capital-labour ratio and the speed of adjustment of the economy to the steady state, which is determined exogenously by technological progress and population growth rates (Arraes and Teles, 2000).

3.3. Defining Income Inequality

Discussing specifically the issue of inequality, Rousseau stated that there are two types of human inequalities. The first is the natural or physical which is considered that was established by nature. This disparity can be the difference of age, health, the strength of the body and the qualities of the spirit or soul. The second inequality is the moral or political, because it depends on a kind of convention and it was established or at least authorized with human consent. This second kind of inequality consists essentially of the different privileges enjoyed by some at the expense of others, such as to be richer, more honoured and more powerful than others (Rousseau, 1753 cited by Ali, 2009).

Attending the nature of that inequality some academics stresses that it happens in several ways and should be viewed as multi-dimensional aspect. In this case a country or region can be very rich and their inhabitants very poor people. In another way a country can be rich and its inhabitants enjoy a higher standard of living. What determines this difference is the profile of the wealth distribution. In the more broad analysis economists have long been concerned about the issue of income disparity among nations. This concern is based on whether income disparity is expected to be temporary or permanent. If the disparity is expected to be temporary, then the market system may be left alone to run its course. If the disparity is expected to be permanent, however, then economic policy may be called upon to intervene. Hence, an important question is whether income disparity is likely to be temporary or permanent (Durlauf, Johnson and Temple 2004; Razak, 2006). To answer this question are used the hypotheses of absolute convergence, conditional convergence and club convergence, explained before.

In another hand it's important to explain that inequality is not only the income gap, but also can be seen according to the quality and accessibility to basic social services (education, housing and health, for instance), employment opportunities, human rights and participation in the decision making (political representation and power). In this case, the concept of inequality implies an uneven distribution or disproportionate share of opportunities, resources, income, consumption, wages, access to health services, education and other basic services by the members of the society (Therborn, 2001 and Lamas, 2005; cited by Ali, 2009).

The approaches discussed above clearly reveal that inequality is one of the major unfair elements in the society. More important than the question of more or less equal distribution, the reason that why the issue of inequality gives so much attention is the idea that the concentration of resources and opportunities to certain restricted groups than to other creates social injustice. In this sense, access to income should not be seen only as possession of money. It can be discussed into various components such as access to basic services, education, health, sanitation, clean water, adequate housing and other elements that contribute to providing a better quality of life for individuals. It can also show that a more equal distribution allows more balanced development of the economy.

However when discussing economic inequalities we cannot ignore to discuss its relationship with economic growth. Moreover inequality is the result of the process of growth and they are inherent in any economy varying only in terms of amplitude.

3.4. Relationships between economic growth and income inequalities

Economic growth and income inequalities are two topics totally linked and their theoretical relationship generally turns out to be a complex one The character of economic growth indicates the efficiency of income distribution and consequently the level of inequalities. Nowadays, the discussions about the relationships between these two subjects have been increasing in different social and economic sectors. Academics and politicians are revelling concern about this issue

and trying to understand it in different approaches to find better solutions to deal with, especially for underdeveloped or developing countries where according with recent researches they has the major level of disparities.

The standard economic theory states that if the markets are perfectly competitive and there is no government intervention, market will achieve the most efficient allocation of resources and take the economy toward the optimal growth path. The standard theory is silent on the question whether economic growth will be at the cost of higher income inequality. But in a market economy, growth is generally believed to cause income inequalities at least at some stages of economic development (Das and Das, 2014).

The inverted-U hypothesis of Simon Kuznets has been widely discussed in development literature and it directly addresses the relationship between economic growth and income inequality. The nature of this relationship depends of the country's initial per capita income; countries with low per capita income are likely to face rising inequality, while the countries with sufficiently high per capita income will be able to reduce income inequality in the process of economic growth. The so-called Cambridge models of Kaldor (1956) and Pasinetti (1974) discuss the relationship between growth and distribution in the framework of equilibrium growth. In this model, economic growth is the result of household savings being invested in expanding production capacity. In Kaldor's model, equilibrium is attained if the warranted rate of growth of income is equal to the natural rate of growth which, in the absence of any technological change, is the exogenously determined rate of population growth. Another important aspect of Cambridge growth models as well as the neoclassical growth models is that in the process of income redistribution the real rewards going to the various economic classes do not remain constant (Ibiden).

The influence of growth in the inequalities is not considered just because of the rate but also the character of economic growth (how it is achieved, who participates, which sectors are given priority, what institutional arrangements are designed and emphasized, etc) that determine the degree to which that growth is or not reflected in improving living standard for the poor (Todaro and Smith, 2014).

Alternative theories predict that inequality can affect growth in either a positive or negative direction. In this way, is consensual that greater inequality might reduce growth. On the other hand, greater inequality might increase growth (Cingano, 2014). Razak (2006) states that the idea that income distribution affects economic growth dates back to at least as early in studies developed by Kaldor in 1957. According to Kaldor, income inequality is good for growth because concentrated wealth in the hands of a few permits greater savings, which are conducive for investment. In the 1990s, at least three alternative theoretical models were developed to challenge and counteract the Kaldor's view. According to the first model, known as the political-economy model, developed by Alesina and Rodrik (1994) and Persson and Tabellini (1994), income inequality is bad for growth because average citizens would push the government for more extensive redistributive policies, which are detrimental for investment and growth. According to the second model, known as the socio-political instability model, income inequality is bad for growth because it might create social tension which is harmful for investment. According to the third model, known as the credit constraint model, income inequality is bad for growth because it might create social tension which is harmful for investment.

3.5. Factors of growth and inequality

Therefore, the behaviour of the behavioural trends of economic growth and inequality can be understood by their relationship with more other variables or indicators. The influence of the factors on growth and inequality is different for different situations and economic realities. Below are discussed some of the considered more expressive factors affects growth and inequalities both in developing and developed countries.

• Real GDP

Therefore, we know that real GDP is the total increase of the economic production of a country or region during a time period (Samuelson and Nordhaus, 2001). It just considers the final product (Paiva and Cunha 2008). Thus, the relationship between the two variables, real GDP and GDP per capita is causal. This causal relationship can be in both positive and negative directions (Krugman and Wells 2015). It means that an increase or decrease on real GDP is also supposed to create an increase or decrease on GDP per capita.

• Population

The population growth is also another expressive factor that affects both economic growth and inequalities. The relationship between population growth and economic growth exists in both positive and negative directions (Krugman and Wells, 2015). Population growth enlarges labour force and provides a large domestic market for the economy, therefore, increases economic growth. On the other hand low wages will increase the demand for labour and the expansion of industries (Kitov, n.d). However, increasing the labour force, a large population consequently push wages down. High population growth rate is also negatively associated to food problem and constraints on the development of savings, foreign exchange and human resources (Meier, 1995). Large population may reduce productivity because of diminishing returns to more intensive use of land and other natural resources (Tsen and Furuoka, 2005).

In the side of inequalities, results of recent econometric analysis suggest that inequality trends to increase at early stages of economic development and fall at later stages. The most important determinant of inequality is not economic growth, however, but rather changes in population age structure. These population changes occur as mortality and fertility drop during the course of economic and social modernization (Williamson and Higgins, 2003).

• Unemployment rate

Economic growth and unemployment are variables whose importance influence in the formation and analysis of an economic scenario. Unemployment is a multi-dimensional phenomenon. It is an economic phenomenon showing imbalance in economic activity. Unemployment is seemed to be a negative phenomenon in any human society as it adversely affect in different dimensions and directions. In addition, it refers to an economic defect affecting the community structure. Thus, the analysis of economic and social dimensions of the impact of unemployment on the growth is complex. The effects are verified by the presence of causal relation between rates of economic growth and the changing rates of unemployment prevailing in the economy. In this, way, the greater the unemployment rate the less opportunities to achieve high economic growth as well as the emergence of the negative social aspects and in contrary, any increase on rates of growth must be associated to low unemployment rates (Habees and Rumman, 2012).

• Inflation rate

Some studies using time series models (for example Schultz 1969; Blinder and Esak 1978) found that inflation contribute to cyclical changes in income distribution, showing a positive relationship between inequality and inflation. It means that high inequality is associated with high inflation rates, particularly in poor countries (Bulíř, 1998). Therefore, low inflation reinforces, rather than counteracts, the income-equalizing. The positive impact of price stability on income distribution is nonlinear and the reduction of inflation from hyperinflationary levels significantly lowers income inequality (CentrePiece Spring, 2005).

CHAPTER FOUR - METHODOLOGY

4.1. Methods and Materials

This study is based on quantitative and qualitative methods. It uses the secondary data to develop descriptive analysis of trend and statistical analysis of the factors by econometric models. In terms of process organization this research followed the Punch (2000) and Punch (2014) approaches for research procedures and is composed by three main steps: research design, data collection and analysis, results and discussion. Below are describes each stage of the research.

• <u>Research Design</u>

The research design is the first and very important step, the point where the research is idealized, defined and strategically organized. In general, this phase is more connected with the literature review (De Vaus, 2001 and Trochim, 2006). For this research this phase is divided in three main stages: literature review; Sampling, variables definition and models specification.

a) Literature review

The literature review of this study discussed the main topics and approaches on economic growth and income inequalities and obviously the relationship between these two studied economic and social factors. It follows the approaches of Gil (1999) and Jupp (2006) about how to precede the literature review.

b) Sampling

This research uses the non-probabilistic sampling. This method is used because the population is known and well characterized (Gil, 1999, Jupp, 2006). The thesis is centred on analysis of low income countries of the SADC bloc. In this case, the population of the study is constituted by the Democratic Republic of Congo, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe. For the effect of study, the sampling includes only the low income countries with at least 10 million populations and not on war situation. Therefore, based on these sampling criteria, two countries were excluded from the study. They are Lesotho, because of the number of population which is less than the minimal 10 million established for the study and DR Congo

because this country is in civil war and its possible problems on growth and inequalities can be explained also by this factor which is out of the objectives of this research. Thus, satisfying the mentioned criteria, the sampling of this research is composed by five countries which satisfy entirely the conditions, and they are Malawi, Mozambique, Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe. This sample represents 71% of the entire population of low income countries of this sub-Saharan sub region and it seem to be representative and also the results are also representatives and reliable.

c) Variables definition and measurement

Variables definition is one of the central steps of the research. This study is focused on endogenous growth factors. The variables enrolled in this study to discuss the proposed issues are essentially the real GDP (RGDP), real GDP per capita (GDPpc), GDP Growth rate (GDPgr), Human Development Index (HDI), unemployment rate (UE), inflation rate (INF), population in millions (POP) and population growth rate (POPgr). These variables are described and analysed at national levels and represented in per year values from 1990 to 2013.

The economic growth is measured by GDP per capita. The GDP per capita is the most internationally used and indicator to measure the economic performance of countries and regions (WB, 2014). It results from the division of total real GDP by the total population (Radlichová, 2013). The inequality is measured using the HDI. The HDI is an analytic tool developed by the United Nations (UN) to measure and rank countries' levels of social and economic development (CASSE, n.d.). This index is the more comprehensive indicator of general welfare since in addition of per capita GDP it also considers the levels of literacy and life expectancy at birth (FAO, 1996). Is also one of the most used by national and international organizations to measure the level of inequalities among individuals of a given region or country. For each dimension, the value of the index is computed on a scale of 0–1 where 0 corresponds to the minimum, and 1 to the maximum assigned value for the corresponding indicator. It means that values near to 0 show high inequality and values near to 1 indicate more equality (Sagar and Najam, 1998; UNDP, 2015). The HDI is annually published by UNDP in the Human Development Reports. Other mentioned variables are explanatory for both economic growth and inequality.
d) Data sources

The data for this study was obtained from the databases and reports from national and international institutions, concretely the National Institute Statistics (INE), Ministries of Finance and Economy, Central Bank (CB) websites of each studied country, World Bank (WB), United Nations Development Program (UNDP), International Monetary Fund (IMF), the International Labour Organization (ILO) and United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD). The collection of data followed the criteria of consistency, timeliness and reliability of sources. It helps to get more reliable and statistically significant results.

Thus, for the researches based on secondary data is trickier because of difficulties to access to national databases, particularly for developing countries. Another problem in the data collection for developing countries is related to the inconsistence of data mainly when the study is based on time series analysis and the necessity of using different data sources for the same information and sometimes they seems to be contradictory.

4.2. Models specification

To determine which variables are going to be measured and how is a very important methodological step for any research. It helps to understand which factors affects the studied phenomenon and how can them be explained. For this research were developed two econometric models of multiple regression equations, one to explain the economic growth and another one to explain the inequalities. The models are own creation based in the modelling approaches of Litchfield (1999) and Durlauf, Johnson and Temple (2004). Thus, were used the same equations for all countries to possibility a uniform analysis. The mathematical specifications of the regressive models are described below:

• Model of Economic growth analysis

The economic growth in this study is measured using the GDP per capita. The equation (1) down gives the mathematical specification of the model to measure the factors which influenced the economic growth in all analysed countries during the studied period.

$$GDPpc_{t} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}RGDP_{t} + \beta_{2}POP_{t} + \beta_{3}UE_{t} + \beta_{4}INF_{t} + \beta_{5}HDI_{t} + \varepsilon_{t}(1)$$

Where: GDPpc is the GDP per capita in time *t*, the dependent variable in the model. The variables RGDP (real GDP) POP (population in millions), UE (unemployment rate), INF (Inflation rate) and HDI the (Human Development Index), are all the independent or explanatory variables. The indicator β o is the constant and ε is the error factor. In more simple words, the model tries to explain how these five factors influences the economic growth of the studied countries. All the mentioned variables, both dependent and independent are measured based on *t* periods, as can be seen in the model. The results of this measurement are used for the comparative analysis among the all five countries.

• Model of Inequality analysis

The Inequality variable used to this research is the Human Development Index. The mathematical specification of the model and the description of the variables are stated in the equation (2) below:

$HDI_{t} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}GDPpc_{t} + \beta_{2}POPgr_{t} + \beta_{3}UE_{t} + \beta_{4}INF_{t} + \varepsilon_{t} (2)$

Where: HDI is the Human Development Index, the inequality indicator. This is the dependent variable in the equation which is being explained by the five subsequent independent variables on the other side of the equation: GDPpc (GDP per capita), RGDP (real GDP), POPgr (population growth rate), UE (Unemployment rate) and the INF (inflation rate). The indicators $\beta \sigma$ is the constant and ε is the error factor. In the same logic with the first equation, the model explains the influence of the four mentioned independent variables on the level of inequalities. The variables in this model are analysed in *t* periods of time.

Note that the both models, economic growth (1) and inequalities (2), are in the additive form and uses initial or original data and not in logarithmic model. The advantage of using normal scores is that the original data need not follow a normal distribution and test is relatively robust to extreme values. Normal scores tests are likely to give slightly improved power for detection of change relative to equivalent rank-based tests (Bonell and Bruijnzeed, 2005).

4.3. Data analysis

This section represents a very important phase of the research. It's from this step that depend a good understand the behaviour of the factors to be obtained on results. Here are used the descriptive and the analytical methods. First of all, the collected data was organized and described sequentially respecting the time series factor. The description of data is basically in tables. The analysis of data is showed by graphics and texts. It helps to understand and explain the temporal trends of the factors that determine economic growth and income inequalities for each country and make comparisons of these trends. This descriptive data analysis covers the whole period of 1990 to 2013. Therefore, because of some inconsistence of inequality, with a break of information for some studied countries in 1996 and 1997, the time series data used for regressions is from the period of 1998 to 2013. In this way, this research presents two data structure, one for the descriptive analysis of variables and another for the regression analysis.

4.4. Results and Discussion methods

The results of the study come from the application of the regression models. The results show the influence of different factors on economic growth and inequality for each studied country and also the relationship or not between these two indicators. Therefore, below is explained how the results are analysed and discussed based in specific methods.

• Statistical method

The statistical method is used to explain the results from regressions, concretely the summary of statistical information showing the relationship between the variables, the weight of relationship and significance of the results. Thus, the study also gives the summary of descriptive statistics, concretely the measures of central tendency and dispersion and the results of the robustness tests. To calculate all the mentioned statistical values were used the gretl statistical program.

• Analytical method

The analysis is essentially the understanding of the trends of relationship between the variables. In other words, the analysis of results is focused on understand and explain the effects of independent variables to dependent variables. The analysis of results is based on statistical outputs from regressions.

• Comparative method

The comparative method is used in two stages. First is used to compare the statistic results among countries looking to the factors affecting growth and inequalities. This comparison permits to understand how the same factors react in different countries. Secondly, the method is used for discussion. The discussion is basically the comparison between the findings of the study with different approaches of the theories discussed in the literature review. The main objective of the discussion is to support the results with the theoretical base of the studied subject and it open the ways to make conclusions.

CHAPTER FIVE: ANALYSIS OF TRENDS IN ECONOMIC GROWTH AND INEQUALITIES

This chapter describes and analyses the trends in economic growth and inequalities in the five studies countries, namely Malawi, Mozambique, Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe. The analysis is centred to the trends of the variables of the study, namely the real GDP, GDP per capita, unemployment rate, inflation rate, population, population growth rate and the Human Development Index. The objective of this analysis is to compare the behaviour of growth and inequality factors among the countries and to understand if the economies trend to convergence or not. The data analysed if from the period of 1990 to 2013.

5.1. Trends of the factors of Economic Growth and Inequalities

The analysis of growth of the studied economies can be divided in two periods. The first period is from 1990 to 1998 where most of the studied developing countries adopted structural and economic reforms started mostly in the decade of 80 with the aim of enhancing growth and development as well as reducing income inequality levels and poverty. The second period is from 1999 to 2013, which highlights the Zimbabwe crisis which somehow affected the regional economy. Therefore, the sections below give a spectrum of trends of the studied low income countries in southern Africa, and also discuss and make comparisons among them. The descriptive statistics of all analysed variables are in the appendix 2.

Real GDP and GDP growth rates

The tables 5.1 and 5.2 and also the figures 4.1 and 4.2 below depict the distribution and trends of the real GDP and GDP growth rates for all five countries for the period of 1990-2013. In general during the studied period all the countries increased their real GDP's in absolute values. Tanzania is the country with major real GDP in all periods mentioned above, followed by Zimbabwe. Therefore, the Zimbabwe real GDP has reduced drastically from 2000, mostly because of the land reforms implemented by the government what reduced the production and created economic and financial crisis.

		Real GL)P		
Year/country	Mozambique	Malawi	Tanzania	Zambia	Zimbabwe
1990	2451.88	2559.66	8751.97	5413.37	7372.11
1991	2572.03	2759.33	9250.97	5307.50	7779.24
1992	2437.48	2540.84	9576.97	5215.63	7232.18
1993	2651.17	2814.48	9980.64	5570.15	7384.80
1994	2814.45	2488.31	10268.56	5091.29	7813.19
1995	2877.42	2712.81	10634.74	4964.29	7825.88
1996	3649.88	2975.21	11143.80	5291.69	8587.65
1997	4045.60	3088.04	11542.63	5466.19	8710.10
1998	4525.38	3160.85	11965.69	5364.17	8752.97
1999	4879.40	3200.04	12552.10	5483.23	8438.11
2000	4961.30	3250.59	13167.34	5679.08	7748.83
2001	5592.42	3094.72	13967.34	5952.41	7733.83
2002	6084.23	3176.88	14972.63	6149.87	7274.50
2003	6479.74	3358.15	16000.08	6465.21	6731.69
2004	6985.88	3540.17	17247.53	6814.56	6486.49
2005	7595.10	3655.89	18508.18	7178.56	6222.94
2006	8343.29	3827.72	19751.91	7625.44	5997.42
2007	8962.87	4195.18	21161.48	8097.72	5801.47
2008	9480.56	4515.68	22559.52	8557.80	5526.39
2009	10094.65	4891.75	23444.30	9105.76	8595.40
2010	10813.06	5228.02	24797.37	9799.63	9573.21
2011	11617.11	5379.73	27144.28	10469.55	10712.94
2012	12439.37	5481.48	28516.91	11235.59	11844.78
2013	13365.37	5776.79	30842.30	11965.91	12375.90

Table 5.1: Distribution of real GDP among countries 1990-2013 (values in millions USD)

Source: author (2016); data from UNCTAD

Mozambique and Zambia have mostly the same level of GDP. However, the Mozambican economy started growing better from 1994, after the civil war ended in 1992, and the implementation of democratic governance. Malawi is the country with the lowest real GDP during the studied period. The problem of Malawi is related with their week economic productivity. The economy of Malawi is undiversified and vulnerable to external shocks. The economy is dependent to agriculture sector, with production of Maize for food security and tobacco for export as the main crops, and is affected more affected by flooding and drought conditions (World Bank, 2016).



Figure 5.1: Trends of real GDP among countries (1990 to 1993)

Source: Author (2016); data from UNCTAD

In the figure 5.1 is clear the trend of the five economies. They all started together at the same level but Malawi and Mozambique were worse. Therefore, Tanzania grew very fast and is now too high than others. Mozambique, Zambia and Zimbabwe, who is recovering from the crisis, trend to converge in the last years of the study. Malawi continues being the worst case scenario among all.

	GDI	? growth 1	rate (%)		
Year/country	Mozambique	Malawi	Tanzania	Zambia	Zimbabwe
1990	1.00	4.77	6.83	0.75	6.98
1991	4.90	7.80	5.70	-1.96	5.52
1992	-5.23	-7.92	3.52	-1.73	-7.03
1993	8.77	10.77	4.22	6.80	2.11
1994	6.16	-11.59	2.88	-8.60	5.8
1995	2.24	9.02	3.57	-2.49	0.16
1996	26.85	9.67	4.79	6.60	9.73
1997	10.84	3.79	3.58	3.30	1.43
1998	11.86	2.36	3.67	-1.87	0.49
1999	7.82	1.24	4.90	2.22	-3.60
2000	1.68	1.58	4.90	3.57	-8.17
2001	12.72	-4.8	6.08	4.81	-0.19
2002	8.79	2.66	7.20	3.32	-5.94
2003	6.50	5.71	6.86	5.13	-7.46
2004	7.81	5.42	7.80	5.40	-3.64
2005	8.72	3.27	7.31	5.34	-4.06
2006	9.85	4.70	6.72	6.23	-3.62
2007	7.43	9.6	7.14	6.19	-3.27
2008	5.78	7.64	6.61	5.68	-4.74
2009	6.48	8.33	3.92	6.40	55.53
2010	7.12	6.87	5.77	7.62	11.38
2011	7.44	2.9	9.46	6.84	11.91
2012	7.08	1.89	5.06	7.32	10.57
2013	7.44	5.39	8.15	6.50	4.48

Table 5.2: GDP growth rates among countries (1990-2013)

Source: author calculations based on real GDP data from UNCTAD

The table 5.2 above gives a detailed summary data of GDP growth rates of all five countries. As we can see at the beginning of the study period Tanzania and Zimbabwe are the countries with the highest growth rate (6.83% and 6.98 percent respectively), followed by Malawi (4.77%). From the decade of 1980s to this period Zimbabwe was one of the most robust economies in the Sub-Saharan region and was considered as a part of medium income countries. Two interesting aspects can be observed in the data below. The first thing is the indication that in 1992 all the countries apart of Tanzania had a negative growth. The second aspect is that Tanzania never had a negative growth rate, indicating that the Tanzania has the most stable and developed economy among all the five countries, as the figure 5.1 shows above.

Looking to the economic growth rates in the figure 5.2 below, we can see that generally, GDP growth has been volatile over the years for all of the countries. Coming out of the 1982-83 recession, most countries enjoyed an increase in growth from the mid-1980s. In the group of studied countries, Mozambique shows growing faster than the rest, mainly after 1994. Thus, the pick of growth in Mozambique was verified in 1996 when reached the rate of 26.85%.



Figure 5.2: Trends in GDP growth rates (1990-2013)

Source: Author (2016) calculations based on data from UNCTAD

Tanzania GDP growth shows to be the most stable and did not go to negative rates during the study period, differently of other countries. It means that the Tanzanian economy grew positively during all the study period. The most volatile economy is Zimbabwe which grew negatively during a long period, mostly from 1998 when the crisis started until the period of 2008 to 2009 when the economy grew positively fast reaching a rate of 55.53%. Malawi and Zambia growth rate show more volatility in the period of 1990 to 1995, growing in positive and negative trends time to time becoming little bit stable from 1996. The figure 5.2 also shows from early 2000s the GDP grew positively more stable for all the studied countries apart of Zimbabwe which grew negatively. Agyemang (2014) argues that the adoption and implementation of the PRSPs in the early 2000s led to an improvement in economic growth in these countries and in all developing world. After the early 2000s the reasons may be given to the rising of prices of natural resources and commodities. Therefore, in general, the economic growth in most developing regions from the decade of 1980s was mainly attributable to the various structural adjustment programs proposed by the Bretton Woods institutions. The programs included most developing countries opening up to international trade and relaxing restrictions on their foreign exchange and also investing in human capital.

GDP per capita

The table 5.3 and figure 5.3 give the information about the distribution and trend of the GDP per capita of the countries during the study period. Zimbabwe contrary to the situation of all economy seems to be the country with the highest GDP per capita in the period of 1990 to 1998 when started dropping drastically. We said before that Zimbabwe was one of the strongest economies in the region. This decrease is related with the economic crisis mentioned before which reduced the production affecting also the real GDP and the growth rate. The lowest value of GDP per capita is 432.29 USD from 2008 the year that the economy reached its worst level. Therefore, this value still high than Malawi in the all study period and about the same with Mozambique (432.12 USD) in 2009. But, from 2008, when the economy started to recover, the Zimbabwe GDP per capita started to increase again and nowadays seems to be the highest among the five countries.

	GDI	P per capi	ta (USD)		
Year/Country	Mozambique	Malawi	Tanzania	Zambia	Zimbabwe
1990	180.71	270.95	343.42	690.08	704.67
1991	185.12	285.72	351.25	660.28	724.79
1992	169.85	260.35	351.63	633.77	658.59
1993	178.01	287.17	354.46	661.30	658.72
1994	182.12	252.58	353.27	590.26	683.65
1995	180.05	272.26	355.15	561.49	672.36
1996	221.70	293.03	362.04	583.22	724.93
1997	239.18	296.81	365.43	586.50	723.08
1998	260.82	295.40	369.56	560.08	715.73
1999	274.15	290.58	378.27	557.29	681.33
2000	271.47	287.12	387.04	562.23	619.73
2001	297.70	266.25	400.26	574.44	614.44
2002	314.92	266.37	418.15	578.79	575.47
2003	326.05	274.39	435.25	593.44	531.18
2004	341.79	281.66	456.70	609.82	511.03
2005	361.49	282.86	476.72	625.85	489.59
2006	386.49	287.64	494.51	647.23	471.34
2007	404.25	305.91	514.63	668.70	455.37
2008	416.50	319.40	532.64	687.01	432.29
2009	432.12	335.66	537.22	710.00	666.88
2010	451.16	348.22	551.38	741.44	732.07
2011	472.60	348.03	585.58	767.91	801.94
2012	493.56	344.61	596.80	798.26	863.05
2013	517.36	353.05	626.20	823.04	874.64

Table 5.3: distribution of GDP per capita among countries (1990-2013)

Source: author (2016); data from World Bank

Zambia is also the country with high GDP per capita almost in the same level with Zimbabwe but more stable. Tanzania with the high real GDP and the less volatile GDP growth rate among all the five countries is ranking as the country with the third highest GDP per capita values during all the study period, apart of 2008 when Zimbabwe reached its lowest value, but still also most stable. This scenario can be explained by the high Tanzanian population which is 49.25 million inhabitants in 2013 (25.83 million in 2013), at about the double of population of Mozambique and 3 times the populations of Malawi (16.36 million in 2013), Zambia (14.56 million in 2013) and Zimbabwe (14.15 million in 2013). Malawi is the country with more linear trend of the GDP per capita and less than Mozambique since early 2000s, thereby becoming the country with less GDP per capita among the all. It can be explained because of the weak development of the Malawian economy as can be seen in the figures 5.1 and 5.2 discussed before.



Figure 5.3: Trends in GDP per capita among countries from 1990-2013 (in USD)

Source: Author (2016); data from the World Bank

Unemployment Rate

The table 5.4 down gives a numerical description of unemployment rates among the studied countries.

	Une	employme	nt rates		
Year/country	Mozambique	Malawi	Tanzania	Zambia	Zimbabwe
1991	8.9	7.3	3.6	18.9	5.7
1992	9.1	7.5	3.5	19.1	5.7
1993	8.8	7.3	3.7	19.7	5.9
1994	8.8	7.6	3.9	19.0	5.0
1995	8.8	7.2	4.7	18.4	5.5
1996	8.7	7.3	5.0	15.3	6.0
1997	8.7	7.3	4.6	14.5	6.9
1998	8.6	7.4	4.8	12.0	6.5
1999	8.6	7.5	4.6	12.2	6.0
2000	8.6	7.6	5.1	12.9	6.3
2001	8.1	7.7	5.1	15.1	5.1
2002	8.4	7.7	3.6	14.5	4.8
2003	8.4	7.7	3.4	15.3	4.5
2004	8.4	7.8	2.9	15.5	4.2
2005	8.3	7.9	2.5	15.9	4.6
2006	8.3	7.8	4.3	15.7	5.1
2007	8.3	7.6	2.0	15.7	5.1
2008	8.3	7.5	2.5	15.7	5.1
2009	8.3	7.5	2.5	15.6	6.4
2010	8.3	7.5	3.0	13.2	5.5
2011	8.3	7.7	3.5	13.2	5.4
2012	8.3	7.6	3.5	13.1	5.3
2013	8.3	7.7	3.5	13.3	5.4

Table 5.4: Distribution of unemployment rates among countries (1991-2013)

Source: author (2016); data from the World Bank

In general analysis we can see that Tanzania is the country with the smallest unemployment rates, with an average of 3.55% over all the study period, and also more stable, curiously followed by Zimbabwe (with an average of 5.33%) even with the economic crisis. There are two possible explanations for the low unemployment in Zimbabwe. The first one is that with the crisis more people abandoned the country and migrate to neighbouring countries, mainly to Mozambique, South Africa and Botswana, to look for job opportunities. The second one can be because more people were employed in the agricultural farms as informal workers and with no official registration in the national employment authorities and this sector is the most affected with the crisis because of the failed compulsory agriculture reform. In other hand, Zambia shows to have the highest unemployment rates, an average of 14.30% over all the period. Mozambique and Malawi are almost at same level of unemployment level with averages of 8.36% and 7.63%, respectively.



Figure 5.4: Trends in unemployment rates (1991-2013)

Source: Author (2016); data from World Bank and World Development Indicators

The figure 5.4 shows the changing behaviours of unemployment rates based on the values showed on table 5.4. With the analysis can be understood clearly that Tanzania and Zimbabwe are the countries with the lowest unemployment rates. Therefore, Malawi and Mozambique are the countries with the most stable unemployment rates, not more volatile, but in high rates than

the two previous ones. Thus, Zambia shows the highest volatility on unemployment rates trends. Some reasons of the high unemployment in Zambia are the weak structure of the economy, low levels of investment in sectors with high potential of employment, for example agriculture, and Weak education system that doesn't support practical work related skills (Shamenda, 2012).

Inflation rate

The table 5.5 gives the detailed distribution of Consumer Price Index (CPI) as a measure of inflation rates in all five countries. In the period from 1990 to 1998 all the studied countries present almost high levels of inflation rates, but Zambia and Mozambique were leading.

	Inf	flation rat	es (%)		
Year/country	Mozambique	Malawi	Tanzania	Zambia	Zimbabwe
1990	47.01	11.82	35.83	107.02	17.36
1991	32.93	12.62	28.70	97.64	23.34
1992	45.49	23.75	21.85	165.71	42.06
1993	42.20	22.77	25.28	183.31	27.59
1994	63.18	34.65	34.08	54.6	22.26
1995	54.43	83.33	27.43	34.93	22.59
1996	48.49	37.6	20.98	43.07	21.43
1997	7.37	9.14	16.09	24.42	18.74
1998	1.48	29.75	12.80	24.46	31.82
1999	2.86	44.8	7.89	26.79	58.52
2000	12.72	29.58	5.92	26.03	55.87

Table 5.5: Inflation rates among countries from 1990 to 2013(part 1)

Source: author (2016); data from International Monetary Fund and the World Bank

	Ι	nflation rat	tes (%)		
Year/country	Mozambique	Malawi	Tanzania	Zambia	Zimbabwe
2001	9.05	22.7	5.15	21.39	76.71
2002	16.78	14.74	5.32	22.23	140.06
2003	13.43	9.58	5.30	21.40	431.70
2004	12.66	11.43	4.74	17.97	282.38
2005	7.17	15.41	5.03	18.32	302.12
2006	13.24	13.97	7.25	9.02	1096.68
2007	8.16	7.95	7.03	10.66	24411.03
2008	10.33	8.71	10.28	12.45	
2009	3.25	8.42	12.14	13.40	
2010	12.70	7.41	6.20	8.50	3.03
2011	10.35	7.62	12.69	6.43	3.28
2012	2.68	21.27	16.00	6.58	3.92
2013	4.26	27.28	7.87	6.98	1.63

Table 5.5: Inflation rates among countries from 1990 to 2013(part 2)

Source: author (2016); data from International Monetary Fund and the World Bank

Reading all the figures is possible to understand that Tanzania is the country with the lowest inflation rate, with an average of 7.14% over the study period, followed by Mozambique with 8.82%. Because of the economic and financial crisis started at the end of 1990s Zimbabwe presents the highest and considered abnormal values of inflation rates, mainly 2002. The average value of inflation in Zimbabwe over the study period is 4732.55%. Malawi and Zambia have the median values among all with 17.54% and 15.67% respectively.

The figure 5.5 below show the trend of inflation rates (CPI changes) for the five studied countries over the study period. The particular and extreme case is from Zimbabwe which acoording to the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas (2011) in the early 2000s become the country with the major level of inflation in all sub-Saharan region and in the world. The most worst

scennario of Zimbabwe continued until 2006 and 2007 when the country reached the highest registered inflation rates of 1096.68% and 24411.03%, respectively, and 2008 to 2009 when, according to the more different sources reached to values of trillions percentage points. Therefore, for these two last years there are not official data published.



Figure 5.5: Trends in Inflation rates among countries (1990 to 2013)

Source: Author (2016); data from IMF and WB

Apart of Zimbabwe situation in general the inflations rates among the five countries are almost convergent. Zambia shows hightest and volitile inflation rates from 1990 from 1993 and stabilized in the same level with others from 1994. Tanzania is the country showing the less volatility in the inflation rates, followed by Mozambique, Malawi and Zambia mainly from 2002.

Population and population growth

Population is another very important variable to analyze economic growth and inequalities. Both, the total number of inhambatants and the ritm of growth affects the perfomance of the economy and the distribution of income, aspects which determines the quality of life and social well-being.

The table 5.6 gives the full information about population distribution and the population growth rates among the countries over the study period.

Veerleen	Moza	mbique	Ma	alawi	Tan	zania	Zar	nbia	Zimb	abwe
Y ear/var.	POP	POPgr	Рор	POPgr	POP	POPgr	POP	POPgr	POP	POPgr
1990	13.57	1.29	9.45	3.33	25.48	3.19	7.84	2.55	10.46	2.85
1991	13.89	2.37	9.66	1.83	26.34	3.29	8.04	2.44	10.73	2.56
1992	14.35	3.24	9.76	0.67	27.24	3.36	8.23	2.35	10.98	2.29
1993	14.89	3.71	9.80	0.03	28.16	3.33	8.42	2.33	11.21	2.07
1994	15.45	3.69	9.85	0.12	29.07	3.18	8.63	2.37	11.43	1.92
1995	15.98	3.36	9.96	0.72	29.94	2.97	8.84	2.47	11.64	1.83
1996	16.46	2.97	10.15	1.46	30.78	2.75	9.07	2.59	11.85	1.76
1997	16.92	2.70	10.40	2.01	31.59	2.58	9.32	2.68	12.05	1.67
1998	17.35	2.55	10.70	2.36	32.38	2.48	9.58	2.72	12.23	1.51
1999	17.80	2.55	11.01	2.72	33.18	2.46	9.84	2.70	12.38	1.26
2000	18.28	2.65	11.32	2.66	34.02	2.49	10.1	2.63	12.50	0.96
2001	18.79	2.75	11.62	2.53	34.90	2.54	10.36	2.55	12.59	0.66
2002	19.79	2.80	11.93	2.48	35.81	2.58	10.63	2.51	12.64	0.43
2003	19.32	2.82	12.24	2.48	36.76	2.63	10.89	2.50	12.67	0.25
2004	19.87	2.81	12.57	2.56	37.77	2.70	11.17	2.54	12.69	0.16
2005	20.44	2.76	12.92	2.68	38.82	2.77	11.47	2.61	12.71	0.14
2006	21.01	2.71	13.31	2.81	39.94	2.84	11.78	2.68	12.72	0.11
2007	21.59	2.67	13.71	2.90	41.12	2.91	12.11	2.75	12.74	0.12
2008	22.17	2.63	14.12	2.94	42.35	2.96	12.46	2.82	12.78	0.34
2009	22.76	2.60	14.57	2.91	43.64	2.99	12.83	2.92	12.89	0.82
2010	23.36	2.56	15.01	2.84	44.97	3.01	13.22	3.01	13.08	1.45
2011	24.58	2.53	15.46	2.77	46.35	3.03	13.63	3.10	13.36	2.13
2012	25.20	2.50	15.91	2.70	47.78	3.04	14.08	3.19	13.72	2.70
2013	25.83	2.47	16.36	2.65	49.25	3.03	14.56	3.24	14.15	3.05

Source: author (2016); data from the World Bank

The values from the table 5.6 shows clearly that Tanzania is the most populated country among all with 49.25 millions people in 2013, followed by Mozambique with 25.83 millions in the same year. On other hand, the less populated are Zimbabwe and Zambia with 14.15 millions and 14.56 million populations, respectivelly, in 2013. Tanzania has also the major average rate of population growth which is 2.88%, followed again by Mozambique with the average growth of 2.74%. The less population average growth rate is from Zimbabwe with 1.38% over the study period. Curiously, the gopulation growth rate in Zimbabwe has reduced during the period of crisis. This situation can be explained essentially with the high rates of migration of Zimbabweans to the neighboring countries to look to better conditions of life and job opportunities.



Figure 5.6: Trend of population growth rates (1990 – 2013)

Source: Author (2016); data from the World Bank

The figure 5.6 above gives the spectrun of population growth trends which helps to understand better the volatility of demographical changes in the countries. Therefore, from the end of 1990s all the countries stabilized their population growth rates, apart of Zimbabwe which decreased drastically for the reasons mentioned before. For Mozambique, for example, the rate rised significantly from 1990 to 1992 period when started to decrease until to stabilize from 1998. This

inceasing is related with the and of civil war which demaged the country during sixteen years which incriesed the life quality and consequently the health conditions and life expectancy. In the different way Malawi population growth rate decreased from 1990 and reached te level of about 0.03% in 1993 and from 1994 started incrieasing and stabilized from 1998. In general, Zambia and Tanzania have the most stable population growth rates. At the end of the study period the countries seems to trend to a convergent situation on population growth rates.

Human Development Index

The income inequality in this study is measured by the Human Development Index (HDI). The table 5.7 below shows the detailed distribution of HDI among the five countries and the figure 5.7 demonstrates the trends of the same variable. As we can see in the table, the values of HDI are very small in all countries and are stated at the level of low income countries and regions according to the classification of the Human Development Reports of UNDP and the World Bank. Curiously, the highest and lowest values of HDI are from Zimbabwe, 0.555 in 1990 and 0.118 in 2009, respectively. The temporal break of information that we can see in the part 1 of the table and in the figure 4.7 below is because there is no official data found for the period of 1996 and 1997.

The figure 5.7 below shows that from 1990 to 2000 Zimbabwe was the country with the highest income distribution among all. From the 2000 the scenario started to be worse for Zimbabwe and between 2004 and 2005 with the intensification of the economic crisis Zimbabwe became the most unequal country among the all studied. This position prevailed until about 2010 when the economy began to recover quickly. Generally the figure 5.7 gives clear indications that the trends in income inequality in all studied countries are more unequal and volatiles. Mozambique represented the country with the lowest income distribution in all the study period. Tanzania, Malawi and Zambia looks almost in the same level of income distribution, particularly and the end of 1990s and early 2000s. Nowadays, all the countries seem to be converging but still some of the most unequal in the region.

		HDI			
Year/country	Mozambique	Malawi	Tanzania	Zambia	Zimbabwe
1990	0.311	0.363	0.422	0.466	0.558
1991	0.252	0.260	0.357	0.352	0.474
1992	0.246	0.330	0.364	0.425	0.559
1993	0.261	0.321	0.364	0.411	0.534
1994	0.281	0.320	0.357	0.369	0.513
1995	0.241	0.401	0.427	0.431	0.563
1996					
1997					
1998	0.367	0.385	0.415	0.420	0.555
1999	0.323	0.397	0.436	0.427	0.554
2000	0.300	0.400	0.440	0.433	0.551
2001	0.356	0.387	0.400	0.386	0.496
2002	0.354	0.388	0.407	0.389	0.491
2003	0.379	0.404	0.418	0.394	0.505
2004	0.390	0.400	0.430	0.407	0.491
2005	0.358	0.476	0.510	0.466	0.159
2006	0.397	0.484	0.519	0.473	0.353
2007	0.402	0.493	0.530	0.481	0.355
2008	0.366	0.468	0.451	0.505	0.422
2009	0.312	0.376	0.392	0.431	0.118
2010	0.401	0.385	0.398	0.438	0.140
2011	0.405	0.400	0.466	0.430	0.376
2012	0.408	0.411	0.484	0.554	0.484
2013	0.413	0.414	0.488	0.561	0.492

Table 5.7:	countries	Human	Develo	pment	Index	(1990-20)13)

Source: author (2016); data from UNDP



Figure 4.7: Trends of HDI among countries (1990-2013)

Source: Author (2016); data from UNDP

CHAPTER SIX – RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

5.1. Estimations and Econometric results

This topic analyses the results of econometric estimations. The analysis is made country by country. For each country were estimated and analysed the influence of factors for economic growth and income inequalities. for the estimations was used the Ordinary Least Square (OLS) technique. Were also developed the diadnostic tests to know the validation of the model and respective results, namely the normality test, the white's test for heterokedascity, the Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity, the LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1, the RESET test for specification and the test for ARCH of order 1. The results of these tests are presented in the appendix 3.

Note: in the regression results ***, **, * mean 1%, 5% and 10% of statistical significance levels, respectively. The variables are represented in following figures: GDPpc (GDP per capita in USD); RGDP (real GDP in millions USD); INF (inflation rate); HDI (Human Development Index – the inequality indicator), UE (unemployment rate); GDPgr (GDP growth rate); POP (country population in millions inhabitants), POPgr (Population growth rate).

MALAWI

Economic growth

The table 6.1a below shows the summary of results of growth estimations fom Malawi. Informations from the table revails that the main factors affecting the growth of malawian economy are the real GDP, the inflation rate, the HDI (inequality indicator) and the population. The results in the table can be clearly interpreted that 1 unit increasing in real GDP contributes to an increase in 0.079 times more in the per capita GDP. The relationship is statistically significant at level of 1% significance. It implies that the perc capita GDP reacts positively to the increase of real GDP. The inflation rate contributed negatively to the per capita GDP. The result indicates that 1 unit increasing in inflation rate contributed to the decrease in GDP per capita in 0.16 times comparing to the previous values. This is because the inflation reduces the purchasing power of

people and can weaken the production of the economy. The results are accepted with the statistical significance level of 1%.

	Depen	dent variab	ole: GDPpc		
	Coefficient	Std. Err	or t-ratio	p-value	
const	316.658	7.4414	42.5535	< 0.00001	***
RGDP_mil_	0.0788535	0.002226	512 35.4219	< 0.00001	***
INF_	-0.155168	0.042723	37 -3.6319	0.00394	***
HDI	46.1071	10.582	8 4.3568	0.00114	***
POP_mil_	-26.4459	1.2513	9 -21.1333	< 0.00001	***
R-squared	0.99	98621 A	Adjusted R-squared	0.9	98119
F(4, 11)	199	1.081 H	P-value(F)	1.2	20e-15
Durbin-Watson	2.20	5396	~ /		-

Table 6.1a: Results economic growth model for Malawi

Source: author (2016)

The HDI looks to be a positive contributor to growth in the Malawian case. It means that when the level of HDI increases in 1 unit the economic growth reacts with an increase in 46.11 times more than the precious value before the increase in HDI. The result is also accepted with 1% of statistical significance. Thus, the rise on the level of HDI means that the inequalities decreases, and it means that for Malawi the growth of the economy is more sensitive to the level of inequalities. Finally we can see that the number of population contributes neganively to the malawian economic growth. In this hand, the figures in the table show that 1 unit increasing in population affects decreasing the per capita GDP in 26.45 times. the of the result is validated with the significance of 1%. The result of Durbin-Watson test is high the the R-square and it indicates that the model is not spurious.

Inequaly

The information in the table 6.1b below indicates that inequalities in Malawi in the study period of 1998 to 2013 was affected by two variables, the unemployment rate and the population growth rate. As the figures show, both factors affected positively the level of HDI, meaning that they contributed to reduce the level of inequalities.

Mod	lel 6: OLS, using	g observations	1998-2013 (T =	16)	
	Deper	ndent variable	HDI		
	Deper				
	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-ratio	p-value	
const	-0.908584	0.512256	-1.7737	0.09953	*
UE_	0.130185	0.0621497	2.0947	0.05635	*
POPgr	0.123197	0.0489151	2.5186	0.02567	**
R-squared	0.41	6874 Adju	sted R-squared	0.3	27163
F(2, 13)	4.64	6824 P-va	lue(F)	0.0	30023
Durbin-Watson	1.14	1411			
Durbin-Watson	1.14	1411		0.0	500

Table 6.1b: Results of inequality model for Malawi

Source: author (2016)

Interpreting the results, we can see that 1 unit decreasing in unemployment rate contributed to the increase of HDI in 0.13 units. This result is statistically significant at level of 10%. Therefore, we can see in the data description and analysis that the unemployment in Malawi is not too high, an average of about 7.5%, and during the study period it does not faced significant changes, just some small increasing and decreasing in different years but did not passed out of the level of 7 percentage points. In the same way, 1 unit increasing in population growth rate contributed to an increase of HDI in 0.12 units. The result is statistically significant at level of 5%. What explains this behaviour of population growth to inequality is that the Malawi population grew to slow and the growth rate is on average of about 2.7%. The changes in the study period are not significant and did not move out of the level of 2 percentage points. The result of Durbin-Watson test is high than the result of R-square what means that the model is useful, is not spurious.

MOZAMBIQUE

Economic growth

The results of estimations of economic growth factors in Mozambique are presented in the table 6.2a down. The figures in the table easily show that the factors which affected the the GDP per capita in Mozambique during the study period are the real GDP, the inflation rate, the Unemployment rate and the population.

Moc	iel 9: OLS, using	g observations	1998-2013 ($T =$	16)	
	Depend	dent variable: C	3DPpc		
	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-ratio	p-value	
const	421.836	104.793	4.0254	0.00200	***
RGDP_mil_	0.037139	0.00444327	8.3585	< 0.00001	***
INF_	0.533314	0.262719	2.0300	0.06725	*
UE_	-20.2596	9.71813	-2.0847	0.06120	*
POP_mil_	-8.87792	4.69689	-1.8902	0.08536	*
R-squared	0.99	8165 Adjus	sted R-squared	0.9	97498
F(4, 11)	1495	5.805 P-val	ue(F)	5.7	79e-15
Durbin-Watson	1.72	1972			

Table 6.2a: Results of economic growth model for Mozambique

Source: author (2016)

The reading of the results indicates that 1 unit increasing in real GDP contributes to increase the per capita GDP in 0.037 times. The relationship is statistically significant at the level of 1% significance. It implies that the GDP per capita reacts positively to the increase of real GDP. Differently to the case of Malawi, the per capita GDP in Mozambique reacted positivelly to the inflation rate. As the figures show, it mens that 1 unit increase in inflation rate reflected to 0.53 times increasing in per capita GDP. Therefore, as we discussed before the trend of the inflation rate in Mozambique was decressive in the study period. It means that the percentage of decreasing of the inflation rate contributed to the increase of GDP per capita. The result is

statistically significal in the level of 10%. The unemployment rate looks to be substantialy bad to the Mozambican economy. The results show that 1 unit increase in unemployment rates contributes to 20.26 times decrease in GDP per capita. The population also shows a negative relationship with growth. The result on the table indicates that 1 unit increase in population rate decreased the GDP per capita in 8.88 times than the previous values. Both results, of effects of unemployment and population in GDP per capita, are statistically significant at the level of 10%.

Inequalities

The information in the table 6.2b below indicates that the level of inequalities in Mozambique was influenced by two main factors. The GDP per capita and the population growth rate. Both the factors contributed positivelly to the incriesing of values of HDI what consequentelly reduced the the level of inequalities. In this case, the results indicates that 1 unit increasing in GDP per capita contributed in about 0.0003 times incriesing in the level of HDI. This relationship is statistically significant at level of 1%.

1	Model 10: OLS,	using observat	ions 1998-2013	(T = 16)	
	D	ependent varia	ble: HDI		
	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-ratio	p-value	
const	0.081457	0.217288	0.3749	0.71379	_
GDPpc	0.000314927	0.000104234	3.0213	0.00983	***
POPgr_	0.0644874	0.073506	0.8773	0.39624	
R-squared	0.42	7726 Adju	sted R-squared	0.3	39684
F(2, 13)	4.85	8200 P-va	lue(F)	0.0	26572
Durbin-Watson	1.82	8408			

Tuble 0.20. Results of inequality model for mozamolque (1990-201.	Table 6 2h: Results of inequality model for Mozambique (1998
-------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------

Source: author (2016)

In the same direction, an decrease in 1 unit in population growth rate promotes an increase of the in HDI 0.06 times, decreasing in this case the inequalities. What justifies this negative relationship between population growth and inequality is because Mozambique is a country with

one of the lowest population growth rates in the region and the average rate of about 2.6% is below the regional average which is about 2.7% and the rates dreceased over the study period. However, this result is not statistically significant. Thus, the value of Durbin-Watson test is 1.8 high than the 0.42 of the R-quase, and indicates that the model is usefull and not sutious.

TANZANIA

Economic growth

The table 6.3a down showing the results of estimations of economic growth in Tanzania indicates that the main factors that affected the GDP per capita are the population, the unemployment rate and the HDI.

Mode	lel 8: OLS, using observations 1998-2013 (T =				16)		
Dependent variable: GDPpc							
	Coefficient	Std. Er	rror	t-ratio	p-value		
const	222.732	15.07	95	14.7705	< 0.00001	***	
GDPr_mil_	0.0130266	0.00024	9202	52.2734	< 0.00001	***	
UE_	-6.28597	1.468	19	-4.2814	0.00107	***	
HDI	59.8592	29.09	63	2.0573	0.06207	*	
R-squared	0.99	97374	Adjus	ted R-squared	0.9	96717	
F(3, 12)	151	8.990	P-valu	ie(F)	9.6	51e-16	
Durbin-Watson	2.07	7176					

Table 6.3a: Results of economic growth model for Tanzania

Source: Author (2016)

The results indicates that the GDP per capita in Tanzania reacted positively to chances on real GDP. In this way, 1 unit increasing in real GDP contributes to the increase of GDP per capita in 0.013 times than before. This positive relationship is statistically significant at the level of 1% significance. Contrary to the real GDP, the unemployment rate contributed negatively to the economic growth in Tanzania. The coefficient of unemployment shows that 1 unit increase in unemployment rate contributes to 6.29 times decrease in GDP per capita. The statistical

significance of this result is stated in the level of 1%. It seems to be the same whats happened in Mozambique, just differying in the percentage of influence and the statistical significance. The HDI is another indicator that effected the growth of the economy in Tanzania in the studied period. According to the results in the table above, the relationship between HDI and GDP per capita is seen to be positive, but at the final it means that the relationship between level of inequality and economic growth is negative, because when the HDI values increase it means that the level of income inequality is decreasing, the same trend found in the Malawi results. It this case an increase in 1 units of the HDI level the GDP per capita reacts with an increase in 59.86 times than before. The statistical significance of this result is at level of 10%.

Inequality

The results from the table 6.3b indicates that the main variables that affected the inequalities in Tanzania are DGP per capita (economic growth) and the population. In that, as the numerical signals indicates we can understant that the high and balanced growth of the Tanzanian GDP contributed posetivelly to reduce the level of inequalities but the high population of the country hurts the efficiency on income distribution.

Dependent variable: HDI						
	Coefficient	Std. Erro	r t-ratio	p-value		
const	0.847772	0.163172	2 5.1956	0.00017	***	
GDPpc	0.00406781	0.001182	3 3.4406	0.00439	***	
POPgr	-0.0593854	0.018184	6 -3.2657	0.00614	***	
R-squared	0.53	9744 A	djusted R-squared	0.4	68935	
F(2, 13)	7.62	2569 P	-value(F)	0.0	06449	
Durbin-Watson	1.30	1164				

Table 5.3b: Results of inequality model for Tanzania

Source: Author (2016)

The information from the tambem show that 1 unit increasing on GDP per capita involves to HDI 0.004 more compared to the inicial value, and consequently to the reduction of inequalities

on the same level. This result is statistically significant in 1%. In another side, 1 unit increasing in population growth reduced the level of HDI in 0.059 times, and it consequently increased the inequelities or the efficiecy on income distribution. This result is also statistically significant at level of 1%. As was said above, and according to the data description, Tanzania is the coutry with the highest population among the studied countries and is one of the most populated in the region.

ZAMBIA

Economic growth

The table 6.4a down shows the result of regression model of economic growth in Zambia. The information indicates that the zambian growth was affected by the three described variables, namelly real GDP, inflation rate and Unemployment. Thus, the real GDP has a positive relationship with economic growth while inflation rate and unemployment rate had negative relationship.

Mod	del 9: OLS, using observations 1998-2013 (T = 16)						
Dependent variable: GDPpc							
	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-ratio	p-value			
const	386.448	20.6837	18.6837	< 0.00001	***		
INF_	-0.853473	0.326921	-2.6106	0.02277	**		
RGDP_mil_	0.0391996	0.00111621	35.1186	< 0.00001	***		
UE_	-1.74317	0.682585	-2.5538	0.02529	**		
R-squared	0.99	9008 Adjı	isted R-squared	0.9	98759		
F(3, 12)	4020	5.271 P-va	lue(F)	2.8	80e-18		
Durbin-Watson	1.17	2829					

Table 6.4a: Results of economic growth model for Zambia

Source: Author (2016)

Interpreting statistically the results they show that 1 unit increase in inflation rate contributed to reduce the GDP per capita in 0.85 times comparing to the previous values, reduction in this case

the growth of the economy. This result has statistical significance ate the level of 5%. In the same way, an increase in 1 unit in unemployment rate decreases the GDP per capita in 1.74 times. It means that the unemployment has a significative power in the economic growth in Zambia. The significance of this result is also of 5%. Contrary of these two variables, the real GDP affected positivelly the economy. In the final, 1 unit increasing in the real GDP increases the GDP per capita 0.039 times compared to the previous level. The significance of this result is of the level of 1%.

Inequalities

The table 6.4b below gives the results of inequality regression analysis for Zambia. The information from the table shows that the population growth shows a positive relationship with the HDI, contributing to decrease the inequalities. In the same way, the real GDP has a positive relation with the HDI meaning that it increases the HDI resulting on decreasing of inequalities. However, the results of inequalities in Zambia are not statistically significant.

Model 5: OLS, using observations 1998-2013 (T = 16) Dependent variable: HDI						
	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-ratio	p-value		
const	0.112504	0.161494	0.6966	0.49829		
POPgr	0.0579841	0.122301	0.4741	0.64329		
GDPpc	0.000264027	0.000334053	0.7904	0.44349		
R-squared	0.44	5747 Adjus	ted R-squared	0.360477		
F(2, 13)	5.22	7489 P-valu	ie(F)	0.021583		
Durbin-Watson	1.08	8931				

Table 5.4b: Results of inequality model for Zambia

Source: Author (2016)

In this case, the results mean that 1 unit increase in population growth rate increases the HDI in 0.058 times. It happens if the population rate trend to decrease. In the same view 1 unit increase in the GDP per capita increases the HDI 0.0003 times. This two situations contributes to the reduction of inequalities. However, the results are not statistically significant. Even that, the

model shows to be correct, is not spurious and it can be seen by the result of Durbin-Watson test result which is high than the R-square.

ZIMBABWE

Economic growth

The table 6.5a down contains the results of regression test of economic growth in Zimbabwe. According to the results shown down the economic growth measured by the GDP per capita was influenced by the real GDP, the inequality (described by the HDI) and the quantity of population.

Mod	del 5: OLS, using observations 1998-2013 (T = 16)						
Dependent variable: GDPpc							
	Coefficient	Std. Erro	or t-ratio	p-value			
const	824.404	15.1579	54.3877	< 0.00001	***		
RGDP_mil_	0.0781358	0.0003005	516 260.0059	< 0.00001	***		
HDI	-12.0497	2.8711	-4.1969	0.00124	***		
POP_mil_	-64.2163	1.28724	4 -49.8869	< 0.00001	***		
R-squared	0.99	99904 A	Adjusted R-square	d 0.9	99879		
F(3, 12)	414	55.33 P	P-value(F)	2.3	37e-24		
Durbin-Watson	1.47	7516					

Table 6.5a: Results of economic growth model for Zimbabwe

Source: Author (2016)

Describing the effect of each variable on the economic growth we see that the real GDP has a positive relationship with the GDP per capita. The statistics indicates that 1 unit increasing in real GDP increases the GDP per capita 0.078 times more. This result is accepted with the statistical significance of 1%. Contrary to this relationship, the HDI and the Population contributed negatively to the economic growth. We can see from the previous data analysis that Zimbabwe is the most unequal country among the all studied. Thereby an increase on inequality level in 1 unit decreased the GDP per capita in 12.05 times than the previous values. In the same

trend, 1 unit increasing in population growth decreases the GDP per capita in 64.22 times. The two results have a statistical significance of 1%.

Inequalities

The table 6.5b down gives the regression results of inequalities in Zimbabwe. The content shows that the variables affecting the inequalities are the real GDP per capita and the inflation rate. These two variables affected negativelly the HDI level, increasing the inequalities. It means that 1 unit decreasing in GDP per capita decreased the HDI in 3.4 times, consequently increasing the inequalities. With that it contributed to the increasing of inequalities. On the other hand 1 unit increasing in inflation rate decreases the level of HDI in 5.9 times than the previous values, also increasing inequalities. These results are not statistically significant. Therefore, the result of Durbin-Watson test shows that the model is not spurious because the value is high than the value of R-Square.

Model 11: OLS, using observations 1998-2013 (T = 16)								
Dependent variable: HDI								
	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-ratio	p-value				
const	0.45801	0.195033	2.3484	0.03533 **				
INF_	-5.8772e-06	4.26488e-06	-1.3780	0.19145				
GDPpc	-3.39903e-05	0.00029113	-0.1168	0.90884				
R-squared F(2, 13) Durbin-Watson	0.13 1.05 1.21	9942 Adjus 7626 P-valı 7724	sted R-squared ue(F)	0.007625 0.375346				

Table 6.5b: Results of inequality model for Zimbabwe

Source: Author (2016)

The explaination of this situation is that whit the crisis started in 1998, the Zimbabwe economy decreased drastically and the GDP per capita also decreased. In the same negative trend of the economy the inflation rate increased and it reached ate levels of trillions percents. These two situations put the economy worse, reduced the parchasing power of the zimbabwean inhabitants and consequently it reduced the quality of life, increasing in this way the level of inequalities.

6.2. Discussions

This section discusses the results of the study. The discussion is essentially the comparison of the reseach findings with the theory. It is divided in two sections. The first section discusses the trends of growth and the second one dicusses the effects of factors or growth and inequality variables besed on the econometric results.

6.2.1. Trend in econmic growth and income inequalities

The data gives the indications that economies of the five studied have diffent chapes. Some are more stable, case of Tanzania, and other seems to be more volatile, case of Zimbabwe. The causes of these differences are different among the countries. Different locations, histories, sectors perfomances and economic policies are the main causes of the differences.

The analysis of the economic growth indicators takes to undestand that in globally all the countries grew positivelly during the study period. The increases on values of real GDP and GDP per capita satisfes this indications. This approach is clearly discussed by Sunkel and Pearce (1988) cited by Vasconcellos and Garcia (1998) and Sandroni (1994). However, this growth is not stable. The behaviours of the growth variables shows to be ciclicals, what put all economies more volatiles, apart of Tanzania. It means that there are more moments of contrations and expantions, mainly in the bigining of the study period. Therefore, it shows that these Sub-Saharan Africa low-income economies are weak, what is explained by Agyeamang (2014). Malawi looks to be stagnant an economy in the region among the all studied countries. This situation is because the Malawian economy is not diversified, dependent on agriculture, and consequently less competitive with other regional economy. It is the same vision deffended by Perroux (1977) cited by Oliverira (2009).

In general the economies are not absolutelly converging. There a partial or conditional convergence in some growth variables among some countries, cases of Mozambique, Zambia and Zimbabwe which tend to converge on real GDP. But, this partial convergence indicates that there is not economic growth converging to equilibrium among the countries. This situations are in the same sense with the approaches presented by Da Silva Filho and Carvalho (2001), Razak (2006), Mathur (n.d) and Myrdal (1963).

The countries presents high levels of inequalities during the study period. Therefore, some countries are more unequal than others. For exemplo, Tanzania is the country with better level of equality among all the studied, following the good perfomance of the economy. Zimbabwe was the one of the less inequal countries in the region but the economic crisis started at the end of the decade of 1990s crieted a worse situation. Malawi seems to be the more unequal country as the result of poor perfomance of their economy. This country examples follows the ideias of Todaro and Smith (2014) who says that the type of growth determine the influence on inequality, and also the approach of Das and Das (2014) defending that growth cause inequality in some stage, for the concrete situation of Zimbabwe. Hence, the inequalities were high in the first years of study and tend to reduce along the years even with some flutuations. Williamson and Higgins (2003) deffend that in general inequalities in the regions start high and reduce. Thus, the main cause of this permanent inequality (Durlauf, Johnson and Temple, 2004) is because the economic growth in this countries is weak and not convergent. As stated by Kindlenberger (1965), Kaldor (1977), Romer (1994) and Lucas (1998) all cited by Santos (2001) convergent growth reduced inequalities and Santos (2001) reinforces this idea stating that there is reduction of disparities when the economies reaches the absolute convergence.

6.2.2. Factors affecting growth and inequalities

Growth factors

The econometric results indicates a positive relationstip between real GDP and the real GDP per capita in all five countries during the study period. It means that the overal product of the economy of these countries contributed for the incriase of income of their individuals. This is a tipical positive causal relationship between real GDP and economic growth measured by the GDP per capita, as stated by Krugman and Wells (2015) and Paiva and Cunha (2008). One interesting aspect is that the regression results of all countries indicates high level of statistical significance of this relationship stated in 1%.

The inflation rate seems to be a negative factor for Malawi and Zambia with 1% and 5% of statistical significance, respectively. In another hand, for Mozambique the inflation rate indicates to be a positive factor to growth with the level of significance of 10%. This ideas are discussed

by Bulíř (1998) when says that inflation contributes for cyclical changes in growth and income distribution and CentrePiece Spring (2005) when discusses a positive relationship between inflation rate and economic growth. For Tanzania and Zambia, the results rejected the existence of any relationship between inflation rate and the real GDP per capita.

The unemployment rate affected negatively the growth of the economy in Mozambique (10% significance), Tanzania (1% significance) and Zambia (5% significance). This idea that high rates of inflation rates affects the growth of the economy is well discussed by Habbes and Rumman (2012). There are no evidences of effects of unemployment rate on economic growth for Malawi and Zimbabwe.

The population growth had a negative relationship with the growth of the economy in Malawi and Zimbabwe both with 1% of level of significance and for Mozambique with 10% of statistical significance. This results are consistent with the approaches from Tsen and Furouka (2005), Krugman and Wells (2015) and Kitov (n.d) are clear when they stresses that level and structure of population affects the economic growth both in positive and negative ways. The results of Tanzania and Zambia does not show the effects of population growth on economic growth.

The inequality (HDI level) shows its relationship with the real GDP per capita in Malawi, Tanzania and Zambia. For Malawi and Tanzania the relationship is positive with 1% and 10% of statistical significance respectively. It means that the HDI of these countries indicates the reduction on the level of inequalities and it contributed positively to economic growth. In another hand, the Zimbabwe results indicates a negative relationship between inequality and economic growth. It means that the inequalities in Zimbabwe are high and it harms the perfomance of economic growth. It is discussed by Razak (2006) when says that high inequalities is harmfull for economic growth. The results of Zimbabwe have the statistical significance stated at the level of 1%. The results of Mozambique and Zambia does not show relationship between inequality and economic growth.

The comparative analysis of regression results show that there is only one commom variable affecting the economic growth (measured by the real GDP per capita) of all the five studied countries and in the same trend which the real GDP. Other factors are not commom for all and
the kind of relationship between them and economic growth shows different behaviours, apart of unemployment rate and population growth which are harmfull for all the countries that they affect.

Inequaly factors

Looking to the factors affecting inequalities, we can see that the economic growth (GDP per capita) affects the inequality level of all countries with exception of Malawi where the regression result do not show evidences. Thus, the results indicate positive relationship of GDP per capita with the Human Development Index, the measure of income inequality. This positive relationship, with a statistical significance of 1% in Mozambique and Tanzania and not significant in Zambia, explain that the good perfomance of these economies contributed to the improvement in quality of life in these countries and consequently to the reduction of inequalities, and approach clearly defended by Krugman and Wells (2015). However, Zimbabwe shows an inverse relationship. In Zimbabwe the GDP per capita contributed negatively to the quality of life expressed by the reduction on HDI level and consequently an increase in the level of inequality. Das and Das (2014) consider also the same situation of a negative relationship between growth and income distribution, causing inequalities in this case. Therefore, this result is not statistically significant.

Another expressive variable affecting inequalities is the population growth. The population growth shows a positive relationship with the HDI in Malawi (5% significance), Mozambique (no significant) and Zambia (no significant) and negative in Tanzania (1% significance). It means that in the three first countries the low population growth contributed to the reduction of inequalities and inprovement of quality of life, and in the last one it increased the level of inqualities. This relationship is well stated by Meier (1995), Tsen and Furouka (2005) and also Krugman and Wells (2015).

The last two variables that the regression results shows to affect the inequalites are the unemployment rate and Inflation rate. For Malawi the low unemployment rate creates a positive relationship with HDI, meaning that it contributes to the increase of the level of HDI and consequently decrease of inequalities. The inflation rate appear as a negative factor for the quality

of life in Zimbabwe. It mean sthat there have a negative relationship between inflation rate and the Human Development Index, what at the last time indicated that inflation have positive relationship with inequality in Zimbabwe. As was explained before, the high inflation rates created by the economic and financial crisis in Zimbabwe reduced the purchase power of the inhabitants and it demaged their quality of life. These are the same assumptions presented by Bulíř (1998), also CentrePiece Spring (2005) and Habees and Rumman (2012).

CHAPTER SEVEN – CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1. Conclusions

The economies of the studied low income countries in southern Africa show a positive growth throughout the period. The growth performances are different, influenced by different factors and economic policies of each country. Therefore, these differences make one grow at faster pace and some less accelerated.

All the countries started with low but more convergent real GDP levels in 1990. Tanzania is the country with highest real GDP level in all the period of study, and Zimbabwe was the second one until yearly 2003 when the economy started decreasing sharply because of the economic and financial crisis that affected the country. After some government efforts on reforms the Zimbabwe economy stated to recover in 2008. Zambia and Mozambique have about the same levels of real GDP since 1995 and Malawi is the country with the lowest level of real GDP. Here is verified a partial convergence on real GDP among Mozambique, Zambia and Malawi. Tanzania and Malawi diverge with others, the first because of the fast growing and the second in contrary. Thus, all countries (with exception of Tanzania) had period of negative growth, mainly from 1992 to 1995, the period of more political and economic reforms in more developing countries after the cold war. Zimbabwe lived a second period of negative growth from 1998 to 2008 because of the crisis.

Concerning to the GDP per capita, Zimbabwe leaded from the period of 1990 to 2002, but from 2003 when the crisis become more acute lost the position to Zambia which maintained the highest values among all until the last years of the study. The lowest scenarios of GDP per capita are shared by Mozambique and Malawi. Even with the highest real GDP Tanzania is not the country with the better GDP per capita among the all studied. The country is in the third position. It is justified by their population level which is the highest among all and one of the highest in the all SADC region.

Tanzania and Zimbabwe trend to converge with the lowest unemployment rates and Mozambique show a relative convergence with Malawi. Zambia is the worst case scenario with the highest and most volatile unemployment rates. The inflation rates are almost convergent among all countries, with exception of Zimbabwe from yearly 2000s because of financial crisis.

In respect of inequality indices all countries seem to be unequal at the same level, but Zambia shows the minor levels of inequalities and Zimbabwe the highest volatility of the indices since the crisis started. Therefore, there is a partial convergence in inequality among all countries, and in general the situation does not show significant changes.

The results from regressions show that generally the countries are not affected by the same factors on growth and inequalities. The real GDP is the unique variable affecting economic growth in all countries and with the same 1% of statistical significance. This relationship is positive for all. Other factors of growth are different among countries and even some common factors affect some countries show different types of relationship and also different levels of statistical significance.

The results also indicates that the correlation between economic growth and inequality just exists in Tanzania, which is a positive correlation with 1% of statistical significance from both sides, and in Zimbabwe which is a negative correlation with different significances, 1% from inequality to economic growth and no significance from economic growth to inequality.

All the robustness tests made show that the models are not spurious and the results respond to the classical assumption. In summary we can say that the economies of all five studied countries (Mozambique, Malawi, Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe) are not absolutely convergent. There are just partial or conditional convergences in some growth indicators among different countries. In general all still more unequal and the variables affecting growth and inequalities are almost different. Based on this conclusive analysis the null hypothesis is rejected.

7.2. Recommendations

The results of the empirical analysis suggest that economic growth has led to a reduction in inequality levels in Tanzania and to the increase of inequality level in Zimbabwe. It means that positive performance of the economy reduces inequality and negative performance of increases it. In other countries there is no evidence of this influence. In the other hand, the economic

growth of some countries is also influenced by inequality. Therefore, there are other factor out of this possible correlation between growth and inequality influencing the economy and the quality of life of inhabitants.

The results of this thesis imply that, countries should not only target the growth of the economy as a means of reducing inequalities, however, equally important mean is the promotion of macroeconomic stability, concretely the price stabilization, the reduction of unemployment rates and the control of economic cycles to reduce volatilities. All countries need to governments to employ monetary and fiscal policies optimally so as to obtain macroeconomic variables of full employment, economic growth and price stability.

Though economic growth has contributed to reduction in inequality levels and improved standard of living across the studied low income countries, this thesis has shown that income inequality is still a major constrain to that positive relationship, particularly in Zimbabwe. In order for countries to deal with inequality problems successfully, the thesis proposes that, governments should implement policies that aim at redistributing wealth in favor of the poor and middle class families.

Furthermore since most countries in the developing world particularly Sub-Saharan Africa are characterized by bad government policies, political and ethnic violence, corruption and lack of political will, eradicating inequality will always be a challenge, because more politicians prefer to maintain this problem as a mean to control and continue in power. For economic growth to effectively transform the lives of the people, governments should aim at stabilizing the macroeconomic environment. This is because good macroeconomic environment can guarantee stable economic growth and development, promoting good political atmosphere free from political violence, civil wars and other political unrest.

In addition, multilateral institutions, development partnerships among governments should come already to set development targets particularly with regards to the Millennium Development Goals to promote growth, macroeconomic stability and reduce inequalities.

REFERENCES

Agyemang, Eric. (2014). Economic Growth, Income Inequality and Poverty Reduction: A Regional Comparative Analysis. Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada. University of Lethbridge. Available https://www.uleth.ca/dspace/bitstream/handle/10133/3635/AGYEMANG ERIC MA 2014.pdf? sequence=1 (accessed in 2016, 5 March)

Al-Habees, Mahmoud A. and Rumman, Mohammed Abu. (2012). *The Relationship Between Unemployment and Economic Growth in Jordan and Some Arab Countries*. World Applied Sciences Journal 18 (5): 673-680. IDOSI Publications. ISSN 1818-4952. Available at: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.390.1338&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u> (accessed in 2016, 8 May)

Ali, Rosimina Samusser. (2009). Níveis e tendências da desigualdade económica e do desenvolvimento humano em Moçambique (1996-2006) (in Portuguese). II Confernce of IESE: Dinâmicas da Pobreza e Padrões de Acumulação Económica em Moçambique. Maputo, Mozambique, 22-23 April. IESE, 29p.

Arraes, Ronaldo A. and Teles, Vladimir Kühl (2000). Endogeneidade versus Exogeneidade do Crescimento Econômico: Uma Análise Comparativa entre Nordeste, Brasil e Países Selecionados (in Portuguese). Revista Econômica do Nordeste, Fortaleza, v. 31, n. Especial p. 754-776. Available at: http://www.bnb.gov.br/projwebren/Exec/artigoRenPDF.aspx?cd_artigo_ren=185 (accessed_in 2016, 10 March).

Bonell M. and Bruijnzeel (2005). *Forests, water and people in humid tropics: past, present and future hydrological research for integrated land and water management.* Paris, Unesco. ISBN: 9780521829533

Borozan đula and Frajman-jakšić, anita (n.d). Regional economic disparities and civil society:EvidencefromCroatia.Availableat:

http://www.efos.unios.hr/repec/osi/journl/PDF/InterdisciplinaryManagementResearchVI/IMR6a 72.pdf (accessed in 2016, 3 February).

Bulíř, Aleš (1998). *Income inequality: does inflation matter?* IMF-Africa Department. Available at: <u>https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/wp9807.pdf</u> (accessed in 2016, 17 April).

Burgess, Robert. (2009). *The Southern African Development Community's Macroeconomic Convergence Program: Initial Performance*. IMF. Available at: https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/spn/2009/spn0914.pdf

CASSE (n.d.). *GDP and indicators of economic wellbeing*. Available in: <u>http://steadystate.org/wp-content/uploads/CASSE_Brief_GDP.pdf</u>

CentrePiece Spring (2005). *More inequality means higher inflation*. Available in: <u>http://cep.lse.ac.uk/centrepiece/v10i1/crowe.pdf</u>

CESO (2011). *Manual do empreendedor versão 2011-Moçambique* (Portuguese). Available in: www.ceso.pt/upload/pdf/content_intelligence/xBw96t9v/EstudoMercado-Moz.pdf

Cingano, F. (2014), "Trends in Income Inequality and its Impact on Economic Growth", *OECD* Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers, No. 163, OECD. Available at: <u>http://www.oecd.org/els/soc/trends-in-income-inequality-and-its-impact-on-economic-growth-</u> SEM-WP163.pdf

Da Silva Filho, Guerino Edécio and Carvalho, Eveline Barbosa Silva (2001). *A Teoria do Crescimento Endógeno e o Desenvolvimento Endógeno Regional: Investigação das Convergências em um Cenário Pós-Cepalino* (in Portuguese). Revista Econômica do Nordeste, Fortaleza, v. 32, n. Especial p. 467-482. Available at: http://disciplinas.stoa.usp.br/pluginfile.php/176625/mod_resource/content/2/teoria%20novo%20 modelo.pdf, (accessed in 2016, March 8).

Das, Monica and Das, Sandwip Kumar (2012). Economic growth and income disparity in BRIC: theory and empirical evidence. Singapure, World Scientific. ISBN: 978-9814415910.

De Vaus, D. A. (2001). *Research Design in Social Research*. London: SAGE. Available at: http://libguides.usc.edu/writingguide/researchdesigns

Durlauf, Steven N., Johnson, Paul A. and Temple, Jonathan R. W. (2004). *Growth Econometrics*. Available at: <u>http://www.ssc.wisc.edu/econ/archive/wp2004-18.pdf</u> (accessed in 2016, April 27).

FAO (1996). The sixth world food survey. FAO, ROME. Available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/012/w0931e/w0931e00.htm (accessed in 2016, 4 March).

Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas (2011). *Hyperinflation in Zimbabwe*. Globalization and Monetary Policy Institute 2011 Annual Report. Available at: https://www.dallasfed.org/assets/documents/institute/annual/2011/annual11b.pdf

GIL, António Carlos (1999). *Métodos e técnicas de pesquisa social* (in Portuguese). São Paulo. Atlas.

GIZ and SAIIA (n.d.). *Regional economic integration in SADC. Current Status of Key Economic Indicators* –*Regional Economic Trends*. Available in: <u>http://www.saiia.org.za/special-publications-series/615-sadc-business-barriers-current-status-of-key-economic-indicators-regional-economic-trends/file</u>

Jupp, Victor (2006). *The SAGE dictionary of social research Methods*. London, SAGE Publications. ISBN: 13-978-0-7619-6297-7

Kahn, Michael and Menéndez, Luis Sanz (2014). *Southern Africa Innovation Support programme: study on regional innovation in the SADC region*. Final Report. Innovos Group. Available in: <u>http://www.saisprogramme.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/SAIS-Regional-Innovation-in-the-SADC-Region_Final-Report_May20141.pdf</u>

Kitov, Ivan O. *GDP growth rate and population*. Available in: <u>https://arxiv.org/ftp/arxiv/papers/0811/0811.2125.pdf</u>

Krugman, Paul and Wells, Robin. *Macroeconomia* (Portuguese). Third edition. São Paulo. Elsevier, 2015. ISBN: 978-85-352-7622-0

Litchfield, Julie A. (1999). *Inequality: Methods and Tools* http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTPGI/Resources/Inequality/litchfie.pdf

Mathur, Somesh.K. (n.d.). Economic Growth &Conditional Convergence: Its Speed for SelectedRegionsfor1961-2001.Availablein:http://www.hull.ac.uk/php/ecskrb/GDP2007/Mathur_Conv-1998.pdf(accessed in 2016, 10 May)

MILONE, Paulo César (1998). *Crescimento e desenvolvimento económico:* Teorias e evidências empíricas (in Portuguese). São Paulo. Saraiva.

Neuman, W. Lawrence (2004). *Basics of Social Research: Qualitative and Quantitative approaches*. Second Edition, Person Education.

Razak, Abdul Nor Azam (2006). *Income Inequality and Economic Growth*. Louisiana: Louisiana
State University. Available at: <u>http://etd.lsu.edu/docs/available/etd-10272006-</u>
<u>144739/unrestricted/Abdul Razak dis.pdf</u> (accessed in 2016, 3 May)

Oliveira, José César de. (2009). *Análise do Crescimento Económico e das Desigualdades Regionais no Brasil* (in Portuguese). UNISC. Brasil. Available in: <u>https://online.unisc.br/seer/index.php/cepe/article/viewFile/1004/764</u> (accessed in 2015, 12 November).

OXFAM (2014). *Time to end extreme inequality*. OXFAM. Available at: <u>https://www.oxfam.org/sites/www.oxfam.org/files/file_attachments/cr-even-it-up-extreme-inequality-291014-summ-en.pdf</u> (accessed in 2016, 3 March).

Paiva, Carlos Águedo Nagel and Cunha, André Moreira (2008). *Noções de Economia* (Portuguese). Brasilia. Fundação Alexandre De Gusmão. ISBN: 978.85.7631.091-4

Punch, Keith F. (2006). *Developing effective research proposals for social research*. London, SAGE Publications. ISBN: 978-0761963561

Punch, Keith F. (2014). *Introduction to social research: Qualitative and Quantitative approaches*. London. SAGE Publications, third edition.

Sagar Ambuj D. and Najam, Adil (1998). *The human development index: a critical review*. Journal of Ecological Economics, 25 (1998) 249–264. Elsevier. Available at: <u>https://www.wits.ac.za/media/wits-university/research/coe-</u> <u>human/documents/Sagar%20&%20Najam%201998%20The%20human%20development%20ind</u> ex%20A%20critical%20review.pdf (accessed in 2016, May 18)

Samuelson, Paul A. and Nordhaus, William D (2001). *Macroeconomía* (in Spanish). Madrid. McGraw-Hill, sixteenth edition. ISBN: 84-481-2886-9

Sandroni, Paulo. (1994). Dicionário de economia (in Portuguese). São Paulo. Atlas.

Santos, José Martins dos. (2001). *Convergência versus Divergência de Renda per capita: uma aplicação da teoria do crescimento económico na Mesoregião Noroeste - Rio Grandense*. (in Portuguese). UPF/RS – Brazil. Available in: <u>http://cdn.fee.tche.br/eeg/1/mesa_3_santos.pdf</u>

Shamenda, Fackson (2012). Employment Creation Policies and Strategies in Zambia, Prospects, Challenges and Future Outlook. A Presentation made at the GRZ-ILO-IMF National Conference on Economic Growth Strategy for Employment, Decent Work and Development in Zambia- 21st May 2012, Lusaka, Zambia. Available at: https://www.imf.org/external/np/seminars/eng/2012/zambia/pdf/sha.pdf (acceded in 2016, 17 May)

Shoeman, Maxi. (n.d). From SADCC to SADC and beyond: the politics of economic integration.Availableat:http://www.alternative-regionalisms.org/wp-content/uploads/2009/07/schoemar_fromsadcctosadc.pdf.

Sousa, Nali de Jesus de (1993). Desenvolvimento económico (in Portuguese). São Paulo. Atlas.

The World Bank (2014). *World Development Indicators*. WB, Washington DC. Available in: http://www.data.worldbank.org/sites/default/files/wdi-2014-book.pdf

The World Bank (2015). *New country classification*. Available in: <u>http://data.worldbank.org/news/new-country-classifications-2015 accessed at 3/4/2015</u> (accessed in 2016, 10 February)

The World Bank (2016). *Malawi Overview*. Available at: http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/malawi/overview (accessed in 2016, 16 May)

Todaro, Michael P. and Smith, Stephen C (2014). *Economic Development*. 12th Edition. Pearson. ISBN 13: 978-0-13-340678-8

Trochim, William M.K. *Research Methods Knowledge Base*. 2006. Available: <u>http://libguides.usc.edu/writingguide/researchdesigns</u>, accessed at 9/26/2015

Tsen, Wong Hock and Furuoka, Fumitaka (2005). *The Relationship between Population and Economic Growth in Asian Economies*. ASEAN Economic Bulletin, Vol. 22, No. 3, pp. 314-330. Institute of Southeast Asian Studies (ISEAS). Available in: <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/25773869.pdf? =1461779095250</u> (accessed in 2016, 27 April).

United Nations Development Program (2015). *Human Development Reports*(1993-2015). United Nations, New York.

United Nations Development Program (2015). *Human Development Report (Mozambique)*. United Nations, New York.

Vasconcellos, Marco António and Garcia, Manuel Enriquez. (1998). *Fundamentos de economia* (in Portuguese). São Paulo. Saraiva.

Williamson, Jeffrey G. and Higgins, Matthew (2003). Assessing the effects of population change, economic growth, and globalization on income inequality. Asia-Pacific and population policy. East – West center: population and health studies, July 2003, number 66. ISSN 0891-6683. Available in: <u>http://www.eastwestcenter.org/fileadmin/stored/pdfs/p&p066.pdf</u> (accessed in 2016, 12 May).

Web Links used:

http://www.indexmundi.com/facts/indicators/SL.UEM.TOTL.ZS/compare#country=mz (accessed in 2016, 16 March)

<u>http://www.indexmundi.com/facts/indicators/SL.UEM.TOTL.ZS/compare#country=zr:mz:zg:zf:zm:zw</u> (accessed in 2016, 16 March) http://www.africaneconomicoutlook.org/fileadmin/uploads/aeo/2015/CN_data/CN_Long_EN/Mozambi gue_GB_2015.pdf (accessed in 2016, 17 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/WORLDBANK/ZMB_SP_POP_GROW-Zambia-Population-growth-annual accessed in 2016, 17 March

https://www.quandl.com/data/WORLDBANK/MWI FP CPI TOTL ZG-Malawi-Inflation-consumerprices-annual (accessed in 2016, 17 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/WORLDBANK/ZMB_NY_GDP_PCAP_PP_KD-Zambia-GDP-per-capita-PPPconstant-2005-international (accessed in 2016, 17 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/UN/DEV_POPULATIONTOTAL_ZMB-Population-Total-Zambia (accessed in 2016, 18 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/WORLDBANK/ZMB_SP_POP_GROW-Zambia-Population-growth-annual

https://www.quandl.com/data/WORLDBANK/ZWE_SP_POP_GROW-Zimbabwe-Population-growthannual (accessed in 2016, 18 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/UN/DEV_POPULATIONTOTAL_ZWE-Population-Total-Zimbabwe (accessed in 2016, 18 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/WORLDBANK/ZWE_FP_CPI_TOTL_ZG-Zimbabwe-Inflation-consumerprices-annual (accessed in 2016, 18 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/WORLDBANK/TZA_FP_CPI_TOTL_ZG-Tanzania-Inflation-consumerprices-annual (accessed in 2016, 18 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/UN/DEV_POPULATIONTOTAL_TZA-Population-Total-United-Republic-Of-Tanzania (accessed in 2016, 18 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/WORLDBANK/ZWE_UNDP_HDI_XD-Zimbabwe-Human-developmentindex-HDI (accessed in 2016,24 March)

https://www.quandl.com/data/ODA/MOZ_NGDP_R-Mozambique-GDP-at-Constant-Prices-

LCU-Billions (accessed in 2016, 24 March)

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Map of SADC region



Source: Kahn and Menéndez (2014)

Appendix 2. Descriptive statistics

Variable	Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Std. Dev.
GDPr_mil_	4108.35	3741.81	3094.72	5776.79	960.872
GDPpc	305.446	292.990	266.254	353.049	31.2300
GDPgr_	4.04717	3.98436	-4.79518	9.60000	3.46825
INF_	17.5388	14.3550	7.41000	44.8000	10.8090
UE_	7.63750	7.65000	7.40000	7.90000	0.136015
HDI	0.416750	0.400000	0.376000	0.493000	0.0394098
POP_mil_	13.2975	13.1150	10.7000	16.3600	1.80081
POPg	2.68713	2.69363	2.35934	2.94071	0.172815

Appendix 3a: descriptive statistics – Malawi (1990-19980

Source: author (2016); calculations using data from the WB, IMF, UNCTAD and UNDP

Variable	Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Std. Dev.
RGDP_mil_	8263.73	7969.20	4525.38	13365.4	2828.65
pcGDP	376.402	373.992	260.818	517.361	82.7776
GDPgr_	7.78213	7.44001	1.67850	12.7210	2.49175
INF_	8.82000	9.69000	1.48000	16.7800	4.73221
UE_	8.36250	8.30000	8.10000	8.60000	0.136015
HDI	0.370688	0.373000	0.300000	0.413000	0.0354019
POP_mil_	21.1337	20.7250	17.3500	25.8300	2.65337
POPgr_	2.64689	2.63941	2.47031	2.82498	0.117382

<u>Appendix 2b: descriptive statistics – Mozambique (1990-19980</u>

Source: author (2016); calculations using data from the WB, IMF, UNCTAD and UNDP

Variable	Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Std. Dev.
RGDP_mil_	19787.4	19130.0	11965.7	30842.3	5985.68
GDPpc	485.058	485.613	369.559	626.200	82.5559
GDPgr_	6.34626	6.66322	3.66522	9.46435	1.57381
INF_	8.22584	7.13824	4.73580	16.0011	3.48073
UE_	3.55000	3.50000	2.00000	5.10000	0.983192
HDI	0.449000	0.438000	0.392000	0.530000	0.0454342
POP_mil_	39.9408	39.3834	32.3800	49.2531	5.36749
POPg_	2.77661	2.80253	2.45510	3.03515	0.222732

Appendix 2c: descriptive statistics – Tanzania (1990-19980

Source: author (2016); calculations using data from the WB, IMF, UNCTAD and UNDP

Variable	Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Std. Dev.
GDPr_mil_	7871.53	7402.00	5364.17	11965.9	2124.05
GDPpc	656.596	636.543	557.285	823.042	89.2122
GDPgr_	5.04402	5.54262	-1.86632	7.62016	2.35600
INF_	15.7881	15.6850	6.43000	26.7900	7.34256
UE_	14.3063	14.8000	12.0000	15.9000	1.40877
HDI	0.447000	0.430500	0.386000	0.561000	0.0554196
POP_mil_	11.7944	11.6250	9.58000	14.5600	1.55371
POPg	2.77898	2.71000	2.50100	3.24030	0.243675

Appendix 2d: descriptive statistics – Zambia (1990-19980)

Source: author (2016); calculations using data from the WB, IMF, UNCTAD and UNDP

Variable	Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Std. Dev.
GDPr_mil_	8113.55	7741.33	5526.39	12375.9	2119.01
GDPpc	627.254	617.083	432.288	874.644	143.082
GDPgr_	3.10361	-3.43223	-8.16869	55.5338	15.4483
INF_	4732.55	108.384	1.63162	24411.0	9767.07
UE_	5.33125	5.20000	4.20000	6.50000	0.679920
HDI	0.408875	0.487500	0.118000	0.555000	0.148796
POP_mil_	12.8656	12.7150	12.2300	14.1500	0.497232
POPg	1.00608	0.739761	0.107875	3.05205	0.944840

Appendix 2e: descriptive statistics – Zimbabwe (1990-19980)

Source: author (2016); calculations using data from the WB, IMF, UNCTAD and UNDP

Appendix 3: Diagnostic tests for the econometric models

Appendix 3a: diagnostic tests for Malawi

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset test for specification	14.8756	0.0014022
White's test for heterokedasticity	13.712	0.471381
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	3.06878	0.546381
Test for normality of residual	2.67742	0.262184
LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1	0.368264	0.557478
Test for ARCH of order 1	2.62877	0.104943

Diagnostic tests of economic growth model

Diagnostic tests for inequality model

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset test for specification	3.69063	0.0593738
White's test for heterokedasticity	12.3736	0.0300123
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	3.32784	0.189395
Test for normality of residual	0.438675	0.80305
LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1	2.44061	0.144204
Test for ARCH of order 1	2.63984	0.104214

Appendix 3b: Diagnostic tests for Mozambique

Diagnostic tests of economic growth model

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset test for specification	18.4117	0.0006594
White's test for heterokedasticity	15.9272	0.317839
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	1.20399	0.877441
Test for normality of residual	1.94678	0.3778
LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1	0.0813052	0.781355
Test for ARCH of order 1	0.0508433	0.821602

Diagnostic tests for inequality model

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset test for specification	3.06172	0.0876816
White's test for heterokedasticity	2.43559	0.786163
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	0.811095	0.666612
Test for normality of residual	5.78145	0.0555361
LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1	0.00127902	0.972059
Test for ARCH of order 1	0.285589	0.593061

Appendix 3c: diagnostic tests for Tanzania

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset test for specification	22.8147	0.0001877
White's test for heterokedasticity	14.0896	0.119172
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	8.1079	0.0438336
Test for normality of residual	2.63645	0.26761

Diagnostic test of economic growth model

Diagnostic tests for inequality model

0.318591

0.191471

0.583781

0.661695

LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1

Test for ARCH of order 1

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset test for specification	0.11464	0.892739
White's test for heterokedasticity	8.62677	0.12491
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	1.82713	0.401091
Test for normality of residual	0.278771	0.869893
LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1	5.15477	0.0424065
Test for ARCH of order 1	1.32708	0.249325

Appendix 3d: diagnostic tests for Zambia

Diagnostic test of economic growth model

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset test for specification	4.16136	0.0484228
White's test for heterokedasticity	14.2651	0.113202
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	0.353206	0.94973
Test for normality of residual	0.838781	0.657447
LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1	1.14188	0.308145
Test for ARCH of order 1	0.724647	0.394624

Diagnostic test for inequality model

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset of specification	9.8033	0.00359481
White's test for heterokedasticity	9.46805	0.0917896
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	4.59443	0.100539
Test for normality of residual	2.06441	0.356221
LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1	2.93274	0.112495
Test for ARCH of order 1	3.32901	0.0680679

Appendix 3e: Diagnostic tests Zimbabwe

Diagnostic test of economic growth model

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset test of specification	11.1908	0.0028
White's test for heterokedasticity	14.7628	0.0976
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	4.2458	0.2361
Test for normality of residual	3.58291	0.5120
LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1	0.628074	0.44481
Test for ARCH of order 1	0.701825	0.40217

Diagnostic test for inequality model

Test	Test-statistic	P.value
Ramsey's Reset test of specification	0.316209	0.735936
White's test for heterokedasticity	3.51696	0.940242
Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity	3.65551	0.301145
Test for normality of residual	4.219	0.121299
LM test for autocorrelation up to order 1	0.116165	0.739653
Test for ARCH of order 1	0.114874	0.734662